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Questions to ask:

Is it sale of goods?

· If so, look for provisions on point in UCC

· If no, consider relevant common law

Who is offeror?  Offeree?

…

ENFORCEABLE K = Mutual Assent (cannot be too indefinite) + Consideration (Recognized; “seals”; promissory estoppel; detrimental reliance) + Statute of Frauds

I. Intent to K

A. Mutual Assent

1. First question: Has there been an offer and an acceptance? 

i. Common law rule is “mirror image” – does the acceptance mirror element for element the offer? If no, then no K

ii. If offeror extends clear and definite offer such that all offeree has to do is accept, and they accept, then there is a K formed

2. “Meeting of the Minds” NOT required: 

3. RULE: Mutual assent is measured by an OBJECTIVE (judged by actions) rather than SUBJECTIVE (mental assent) standard – the Reasonable Person: what would a RP have inferred from offeror or offeree’s actions regarding their intent to K?

i. Lucy v. Zehmer: Offeror cannot escape a K after offeree accepts by claiming that he did not “intend” to enter into K if his actions would appear to a RP to demonstrate that he did intend to K
4. EXCEPTION: IF the offeror is aware that the offeree is NOT a RP – then court must take the buyer as they are – rule becomes: would a person of that circumstance (i.e. low IQ), reasonably expect that there was a K?
5. Note: Courts do not typically take up disputes concerning familial relationships or breach of “social Ks”, however there are exceptions:
i. Dissolution of marriage by death or divorce (prenups, etc.)

ii. K re. agreements in commercial settings – a spouse making a loan to other spouse for a business enterprise

iii. “Unusual” social Ks (e.g., large expenditure of offeror or offeree in preparation for performance); adjudication may be justified
B. Offer

1. WHAT is an offer?

i. “A manifestation of willingness to enter into a bargain so made as to justify another person in understanding that assent to that bargain is invited & will conclude it” – R2D

2. WHEN is offer extended?

i. Preliminary Negotiations

a. A valid offer requires clear intent of the offeror to enter into an enforceable contract.

b. Negotiations are not binding until all the terms that would reasonably be deemed important by the various parties have been ironed out. 

c. Written and signed instruments along the course of the negotiations are only “provisional and tentative” until all of the issues are resolved

d. Must measure by objective manifestation rather than subjective intent – is it reasonable to infer that the parties intended to be bound, OR are they merely “ironing out” issues on the way to forming a K?

1. Leeds v. First Allied Connecticut Corp. – Informal signed document was determined to NOT be a K because the offeror (First Allied) had not undertaken acts which would ordinarily signify completion of negotiations (e.g., document was unusually simplistic, First Allied had not viewed property in dispute)

ii. Statement of Opinion or Intention

a. Statement of opinion or intention is NOT enough to constitute an offer – it must be a definite promise of performance.

1. Cirafici v. Cohen: If doctor’s statements cross the line from “therapeutic reassurance” to a “specific promise to cure”, then a K may be formed.  

i. Usually relevant to elective procedures (where patient has greater latitude in making informed choice without false reassurance), and depends upon exactly what was promised, and the circumstances in which it was promised. 

ii. EXCEPTION: in emergency situation, doctor has more latitude in his “reassurances” to put patient at ease

2. Lawyer’s promise that he will “win for sure” IS enforceable K.

iii. Solicitations

a. RULE: Ads and Solicitations by mail are NOT offers, but merely invitations for the recipient to make an offer.  

1. Why? RP would understand that an ad in a newspaper is not a guarantee to every potential purchaser who might see the ad.

b. EXCEPTION: If ad is specific to price, quantity, and who may accept the offer (i.e., first come, first served), such that all “offeree” must do is show up to accept, then it is an offer. (Lefkowitz v. Greater Minneapolis Surplus Store, Inc.)

1. Quotes to individuals are usually considered offers.

2. Can also enforce with deceptive trade practice priovisions rather than breach of K actions.

c. How to make clear that you do not intend to offer, but rather issue an invitation for others to offer? Put in writing – THIS IS NOT AN OFFER TO SELL, it a solicitation for bids only.

iv. Written Contract to Follow 

a. Intent to form writing does not preclude en enforceable K based on oral agreement, BUT the question is of parties’ intent: did they objectively manifest intent to be bound by the oral agreement? (Continental. Laboratories v. Scott Paper Co)
1. The fact that the parties may have had an “understanding” as to the substantive elements of the K does not necessarily form an oral K if they did not INTEND TO BE BOUND by just the oral agreement

2. Statute of frauds (UCC §2-201) – statute adopted by most states that certain kinds of contracts there MUST be a writing (in UCC for sale of goods <$500, though many states have broadened beyond just sale of goods).  MUST have a writing for the contract to be enforceable.  

3. Differentiate between oral agreement later memorialized (K does exist) v. preliminary negotiations leading up to a K (K does not exist)

4. R2D §27 Comment (c):

i. the extent to which express agreement has been reached on all the terms to be included

ii. whether the contract is of a type usually put in writing

iii. whether it needs a formal writing for its full expression

iv. whether it has few or many details

v. whether the amount involved is large or small

vi. whether it is a common or unusual contract, whether a standard form of contract is widely used in similar transactions

vii. whether either party takes any action in preparation for performance during the negotiations. 

v. Auctions – UCC §2-328: Not considered offers, but invitations to offer (like ads)

C. Acceptance 

1. Effect of Acceptance: Once K is formed, one party cannot unilaterally change any of the terms

2. Manifesting Assent – R2D §50: When accepting an offer, offeree is agreeing to all of the terms of the offer and must accept in a manner invited or required by the offer (or another reasonable means of acceptance if none is specified - UCC §2-206)

i. Offeror is in control as to how the acceptance occurs: If I require that acceptance must be mailed back using only certain types of stamps, then it must be so (Beard Implement Co. v. Krusa)
ii. If methods of acceptance are not specified, then there are other presumptions that can be made (according to 2-206)

iii. Acceptance by performance: requires at least part of what the offer requests be performed or tendered

iv. Acceptance by performance may also operate as a return promise (i.e., offeror says, I will sell you my car for $500; to accept, stand on your head for one hour)

v. Acceptance by a promise: requires that the offeree complete every act essential to the making of the promise

3. Knowledge of Offer

i. RULE: Offeree must have knowledge of offer to accept it.

a. Eg: Reward cannot be claimed by one who performed without knowledge of reward offer

b. EXCEPTION: Gov’t entities do not require knowledge of reward for collection

4. Motive

i. RULE: Motive NOT important; does not have a bearing on whether there is a valid acceptance (because of requirement of OBJECTIVE manifestation of assent)

5. Mode of Acceptance

i. Offeror may specify exactly the form of acceptance required, and offeree must comply exactly in order to tender valid acceptance

ii. If not specified in K, §30: offer invites acceptance by any reasonable medium (given the circumstances) and depends on unilateral v. bilateral K

a. Bilateral – acceptance requires an exchange of promises for performance

b. Unilateral – acceptance requires performance

iii. Notification of acceptance to offeror §2-206

a. Bilateral K – acceptance may be by action OR promise (explicit or implied)

1. Return promise: §2-206(1) offeree must notify the offeror of acceptance

i. §2-206(1)(a) Must be in a form “reasonable under the circumstances”

a. If offer is fed-exed, regular mail is probably not valid

b. If writing is required, telephone is probably not valid

2. Partial or full performance: 

i. No notice necessary when the offeror will have reason to know of the acceptance by performance

ii. Notice is necessary if offeror has no reason to know that offeror has accepted by performance, in which case R2D §54 applies and acceptance is not valid unless:

a. offeree has not reasonably tried to notify offeror of acceptance by performance

b. offeror learns of the performance within a reasonable time

c. offeror indicates notification is not required

iii. §2-206(1)(b) – acceptance by shipment of goods

a. Conforming goods – operates as acceptance

b. Non-conforming goods

i. K formed – and buyer can send back to request conforming goods

ii. If shipper “seasonably notifies” that shipment is just an accommodation (red widgets instead of blue), then not an acceptance, but counter-offer

3. Silence as Acceptance (R2D §69)

i. RULE: Silence is NOT a reasonable form of acceptance

ii. EXCEPTIONS: 

a. Implied-in-fact K

i. Requirements:

ii. an expectation for payment when they perform the act

iii. receiver must have “reason to know” – an objective standard (versus “knowing” – which is a subjective standard”)

iv. Receiver must also have reasonable opportunity and ability to object to the act and 4) the act is a benefit to receiver.

v. Day v. Caton – Day builds a party wall on boundary between Day and Caton’s property. Caton claims he made no assent. Court rules that express assent is not always necessary, and thus becomes question of fact for jury of whether by watching Day build the wall Caton had “reason to know” that Day expected payment.  

b. Shipments

i. If provider ships item that was not ordered, receiver may keep item w/o having to notify shipper

ii. Negative Option Ks are valid, because receiver gave assent to the arrangement

c. If offeror has said that silence is appropriate form of acceptance, the offeree is silent, AND the offeree intended to accept (subjective element)

b. Unilateral K– acceptance requires action or forebearance of action (a promise does not count) 

1. RULE: offeree may ONLY accept through full performance

i. Unilateral Ks are rare – cts are reluctant to find a unilateral offer 

ii. Ex: Broker contracts, reward contracts, commission contracts

iii. Also unilateral if the parties clearly state – “I’ll pay you $500 to paint my house, and I’m tired of other contractors starting things and not finishing – I’ll ONLY pay you when you finish the job”.

2. EXCEPTION: if offeree has begun performance, an “option K” is formed, whereby offeror must keep offer open for a reasonable time to allow offeree to complete performance (§45)

c. RULE: If offer is ambiguous, courts will interpret it as bilateral (Davis v. Jacoby) and thus §2-206 invites “acceptance in any manner and by any medium reasonable in the circumstances”

D. Termination of Power of Acceptance

1. Revocation by Offeror

i. RULE: If before acceptance the offeror revokes the offer, then the offeree may no longer accept (Petterson v. Pattberg)

a. Do not need to say explicitly “I revoke” as long as the sentiment makes clear to offeree that the offer is withdrawn (Dickinson v. Dodds)

1. IF the offeror makes an act inconsistent with the offer, and 

2. IF offeree knows or has reason to know about the act, 

3. THEN it is sufficient notice of revocation to the offeree 
ii. §2-328/Auctions: 

a. Auctioneer/seller are issuing invitations to bid, bidders are making offers

1. With reserve: seller may retract good at any point up until the hammer sounds

2. Without reserve: once auction begins, seller may not retract goods

b. Acceptance is not made until the hammer pounds, 

c. thus bidders may retract up until hammer sounds  

d. Bids proffered during the fall of the hammer may be accepted or not at discretion of auctioneer.

iii. EXCEPTIONS:

a. §2-205 Firm offers for sale of goods

1. Offer by merchants (who deal in goods of a certain kind OR have particular knowledge of type of transaction)

2. In a signed writing

3. Specifying period of time that offer will remain open

4. MUST remain open for that period of time

5. Or if no time states, for a reasonable time

6. But NOT longer than 3 months

b. Option K

1. If consideration is provided by offeree to keep offer open for specified time, offeror cannot revoke before conclusion of the offer 
i. Marchiondo v. Scheck: Broker K. Broker contended that there had been part-performance, and thus he was entitled to the compensation.  Thus, option K (or “a K with a condition”) was created upon broker’s part performance and the offeree could not revoke 

2. Lapse of Time 
i. RULE: §2-206(2) If no time is stated in an offer and the circumstances do not indicate otherwise, an offer expires after a reasonable time.  

a. Loring v. City of Boston: Loring sued for reward posted three years prior in newspaper ad.  Court held that the offer had expired because of the length of time that had passed and the fact that the rash of crimes which precipitated the offer had declined.  Thus, a reasonable person would infer that the offer had lapsed.

b. Common law: Generally, courts have ruled that in face-to-face interactions, power of acceptance lapses once parties take leave of one another, or if on phone, when parties hang up

ii. RULE: In order for offeror to revoke before “reasonable time” has lapsed, offeror must publicize revocation in same manner and to same extent as offer was originally made

3. Termination by Death or Incapacity of Offeror or Offeree 

i. RULE (Majority): Either death or mental incompetency by offeror terminates the power of acceptance (with or without knowledge of offeree)

ii. Minority View: In cases of mental incompetency, offeree’s power of acceptance lapses only when he knows or has reason to know of offeror’s incompetency

a. Swift & Co. v. Smigel: In continuing guaranty, supplier continued shipping goods to business, after guarantor was declared incompetent. Supplier had no reason to know of incompetency.  Ct. ruled that supplier was entitled to payment.

4. Termination by Rejection

i. RULE: §38 - Once rejected, the offeree cannot make the offer come back to life.

ii. EXCEPTION: §37 - Option Ks

a. Where there is an option K cemented by consideration, offeree may reject during the specified time and later change their mine, accepting offer 

b. UNLESS the other party relied on the rejection to their detriment and made other plans

iii. RULE: §39 – Counter-offers serve as rejection of original offer

5. The “Mail Box” Rule 
i. RULE (Majority): IF mail is a reasonable mode of acceptance, acceptance is effective upon deposit in the mailbox, if it is properly addressed.  (Adams v. Lindsell)

ii. Acceptance valid even if offeree sends rejection which offeror receives first  (Morrison v. Thoelke)

iii. EXCEPTIONS: 

a. If offeree receives rejection prior to acceptance AND relies on the rejection, the offeree is not stuck with the K.

b. Option Ks: acceptance is NOT effective until received.

6. Termination by Counteroffer and the “Battle of the Forms”

i. Common law “mirror image rule”: if an offeree responds to an offer and adds new or different term from that in the offer you do not have an acceptance – just a counter-offer. Caused problems b/c “last shot form” was the one which was binding.

ii. §2-207 reform (C. Itoh v. Jordan – arbitration clause) – SEE CHART

a. 2-207(1)
1. Acceptance must be definite and seasonable (1-204) in order to be valid

i. “Seasonable” means by time indicated in offer OR a reasonable time

ii. (p. 121-122) “Definite” means purported acceptance must not vary so significantly from the offer that under no reasonable approach could it be assumed that it was acceptance. You COULD have additional terms or terms which “materially alters” the terms of the offer and STILL have a K - this is brought under 2-207(2).  So, then, what does “definite expression of acceptance” mean?  What terms keep it from being a definite expression of acceptance?

a. Term that is different or additional term which is “dickered” – the essential terms of the K (ex: price, quantity, delivery terms). Thus the acceptance could NOT be considered as an assent; BUT a K could still be formed by performance, under 2-207(3)

b. NON-“dickered” terms are those that the parties do not “gasp” when they see them; e.g., warranty terms, arbitration terms

2. Proviso language must not be present 

i. The existence of “proviso clause” is considered a counter-offer, and unless the other party gives EXPRESS acceptance to the new terms, there is no K formed and we are thrown into (3)

b. 2-207(2): If 2-207(1) is satisfied [it is definite and seasonable, timely, no proviso language, AND no conflict over dickered terms] OR an oral K formed and then the exchange of one or more “confirmations”, are additional terms included?

1. If BOTH parties are not merchants, then immediately the answer is NO (the additions are only considered proposals for additions)

2. If BOTH parties are merchants (defined in 2-104), then the addition IS included unless:

i. Offeror limits acceptance to terms of the offer (objection BEFORE the fact of the acceptance)

ii. The addt’l term is a material alteration: 

a. Courts are increasingly looking at course of dealing (and sometimes trade usage) to determine if the addt’l term is a material alteration]

b. Comment #4: materially altered if the addt’l term causes “surprise” or “hardship”. Hard to prove that it is “hardship” or “surprise” if the parties have been already performing that term, under their course of dealing, and sometimes trade usage.

iii. Offeror objects to the addition w/in a reasonable time (objection after the fact of the acceptance)

3. ISSUE over different terms – (2) does not mention different terms explicitly. Three views:

i. MAJORITY: Knockout rule (Comment 6, BUT references only “confirming forms”), and gap-fillers (see below)

ii. MINORITY: Different terms treated same as additional terms, and only drop out if they “materially alter” (Comment 3) 

iii. MINORITY: Different terms drop out (problem that offeror control)

c. 2-207(3): If 2-207(1) is NOT satisfied [acceptance NOT definite or seasonable, proviso clause existed, OR conflict over dickered terms]

1. K is only formed through performance, and terms consist of (in order of priority):

i. Terms on which the conflicting forms AGREE are retained

ii. UCC “Gap Fillers”

iii. Course of performance

iv. Course of dealing

v. Trade usage

iii. NOTHING the parties put in their confirming memoranda changes the existence of a K, if there was already an enforceable oral K.  Issue is whether an additional or different term becomes a part of K.  You would NEVER be in (3) in this case, but you would be under (2) – determine whether terms are material or objectionable.

7. Indefiniteness - Even though parties intend to be a K (mutual assent) there is not an enforceable K if it is too indefinite (Rego v. Decker)

i. First determine – what ARE the terms of the K:

a. Express

b. Implied by trade usage, course of dealing or course of performance

ii. §2-204(3): A K does NOT fail for indefiniteness if 

a. the parties have intended to make a K 

b. there is a reasonably certain basis for giving an appropriate remedy

1. Quantity is the one element which usually will cause a K to fail if it is not defined – you can’t determine a remedy if you don’t know how many widgets were provided for sale in the K (b/c the typical remedy is the Q*(Market Price – Cost of production)

i. EXCEPTION: Output and Requirements Ks

a. Seller’s estimate must have been in good faith - 2-103(b). 

b. Output must not be unreasonably disproportionate to any stated estimate.  

i. The courts have interpreted that good faith trumps the “unreasonably disproportionate” clause, though recently the courts (AL S. Ct. and Crandall) have come out the other way

ii. The more the output or requirement departs from the estimate, the more it is suspicious and subject to a breach

2. Missing price elements does not alone invalidate a K for indefiniteness.  Courts may fill in “reasonable price” according to §2-305. If courts can’t determine reasonable price, then the K would fail.  

II. Consideration – Law does not enforce promises without consideration

A. Form of consideration

1. R2D §71

i. Must be bargained for (promises given in exchange for one another or performance given in exchange for promise)

ii. May be return promise or performance

a. Performance

1. Act other than promise

2. Forbearance (Hamer v. Sidway)

3. Creation, modification, or destruction of legal relation

2. Sufficiency v. Adequacy

i. Sufficiency: type of consideration – does it have value in eyes of law?

a. Love and affection is NOT sufficient consideration

b. The “slab of bacon” rule

ii. Adequacy: quantity

a. Inadequacy of consideration will not void a K (Batsakis v. Demotsis)
B. Nominal consideration 

1. RULE: Nominal consideration is NOT sufficient (Schnell v. Nell)

2. EXCEPTION: Option Ks (§87) - the court will NOT inquire as to whether it is nominal or even if it was paid. Law favors enforcement of option Ks

C. Forbearance from asserting legal claim as consideration

1. RULE 

i. (R2D): IS consideration if promissor EITHER honestly (subjective) OR reasonably (objective good-faith) believes in the validity of the promise

a. Fiege v. Boehm – woman forbears bastardy proceedings in exchange for child support (man later found to NOT be the father)

b. Policy: Encourages out-of-court settlements

ii. (Common Law): IS consideration if promissor BOTH honestly AND reasonably believes in validity of promise

D. Illusory promise

1. RULE: Illusory promise (“I will buy wheat from you at $10/bushel insofar as I want to buy wheat at that price”) is NOT consideration

E. Implied promise 

1. RULE: If promise is implied (in fact or law) from the party’s words or actions, the implied promise IS consideration 

i. §2-306(2) – Exclusive dealing K implies that seller will use “best efforts” (Wood v. Lady Duff Gordon)

F. Output/Requirements Ks - §2-306(1)

1. RULE: Requirements K IS enforceable; consideration is the buyer agreeing to buy all of their requirements/seller’s output

2. See above, I(vii)(2)(1)

3. Before UCC:

i. Notice of cancellation is consideration (Sylvan Crest Sand & Gravel v. US)
ii. If buyer was established business with reasonably expectation of requirements, then enforceable (McMichael v. Price)

G. Past Consideration

1. RULE: Past consideration is NOT consideration. §86 (Hayes v. Plantation Steel Co – Promise of pension at retirement NOT bargained for)

H. Moral Consideration

1. RULE: Moral consideration is NOT consideration (Mills v. Wyman – father refuses to fulfill promise to pay for care of ailing son)

2. EXCEPTIONS

i. If minor “reaffirms” obligation upon reaching majority, they must pay

ii. §82

a. If s/l has run, but debtor volunteers to pay (most states must be in writing) – no new consideration required

b. If s/l has run, but debtor pays part of the debt, the creditor may recover the rest

c. If debt voided by bankruptcy, creditor must go through debtor’s lawyer to “re-up” the debt

I. Pre-Existing Duty Rule

1. RULE: A promise to perform an act that the promissor had a preexisting duty to perform is NOT consideration, even if bargained for. (Harris v. Watson and Stilk v. Myrick – sailor cases; Lingenfelder v. Wainwright Brewery – contractor extorting more money for performance of existing K)

a. Additional consideration does NOT have to equal value, i.e., if buyer agrees to pay an addt’l $20K, the contractor may offer to pave the driveway or finish two weeks early as consideration – Cts do not look at ADEQUACY of consideration.

2. EXCEPTIONS

i. Modifications under §89(a) do NOT require additional consideration to be binding IF the modification is:

a. fair and equitable in view of circumstances (trade usage comes into play)

b. not anticipated by parties

ii. Modifications for K for sale of goods under §2-209(1) do NOT require consideration to be binding

iii. Novation: if parties discharged the original K and entered into a new K for higher price, that is enforceable

3. Past-Due monetary debts: A owes B X dollars. A pays B some amount less than X.  

i. Liquidated debt  (1. not disputed in good faith; 2. the amount is certain)

a. RULE: B CAN sue for remainder b/c A was under pre-existing duty to pay full amount

b. EXCEPTION: Different performance

1. If A tenders lesser amount plus a “slab of bacon”, then the debt is satisfied b/c cts won’t inquire as to adequacy. “Slab of bacon” may also be early payment, payment in cash instead of check, etc.

2. Accord and Satisfaction (Clark v. Elza)

i. Definition

a. Accord: Agreement in which one party to an existing K agrees to accept something different than the perf. she is supposed to receive

b. Satisfaction: Performance of the accord by the promissor

ii. RULE (old): Accord is not enforceable until it is satisfied

iii. RULE (§281): Creditor’s rights are suspended until the debtor has a “reasonable time” to satisfy the accord. If not satisfied within reasonable time, creditor may still attempt to recover original debt OR the performance under the accord.

ii. Unliquidated debt (1.good faith dispute as to dollar amt; 2. dollar amt is unascertainable)

a. RULE: If debtor pays amount she admittedly owes creditor, the full debt is discharged

J. Promissory Estoppel – ONLY considered when there is NOT a valid K

1. Old View: Promissory estoppel served as a substitute for consideration

2. Modern view: “If there is no consideration, there is no K”. BUT, promissory estoppel serves as independent theory of relief (used to be called detrimental reliance) to enforce a promise.  (Hoffman v. Red Owl – No K because of indefiniteness, but promissory estoppel served to enforce the detrimental reliance of Π on Δ’s promises)

3. Elements under §90

i. A promise:

a. A promise has to be to do or not to do something. 

b. Must be “clear and unambiguous”. 

1. Ex: Associate is told that if they do extra work they will get extra pay commensurate with the industry standard for that type of work.  The case turned out to be a big winner and the firm got a fee of $15M.  Associate was given $100K bonus.  Associate alleged that they had done more than half of the work – associate sued for promissory estoppel.  Court found that the promise was not a “clear and ambiguous” promise to pay a certain amount of money, so associate lost.

2. Ex2: Promise made was “trust me”. Court said that this promise was not clear enough

3. Ex3: “We’ll keep you around 3-5 years”. Court said this was not clear enough, either and not therefore enforceable.

ii. Which the promissor should reasonably expect to induce action or forebearance on the part of the promise or a third person

a. Courts have interpreted that the promise must REASONABLY rely on the promise.

1. Ex: Guy promised to pay child support to mother if she never put child up for adoption (not his kid). Court ruled that the mother had no reason to rely on the promise, because of the circumstances.

iii. And the promise does in fact induce such action or forbearance

4. Examples

i. Universal Computer Services v. Medical SVCS of PA – Reliance on promise of agent of Δ resulted in detriment to Π; remedy of expectation damages unusual – typically damages awarded in promissory estoppel case is reliance expenses

ii. James Baird v. Gimbel Bros
a. Narrow holding that promissory estoppel does not apply to case of subcontractor retracting bid, causing detriment to contractor.

b. Modern View - §87(2) – if the offeror (subcontractor) may reasonably expect to induce action by contractor and DOES induce such action, then the offer is binding as an option K and will be open for a reasonable period of time (until the bid is submitted and accepted, and a reasonable time to notify the subcontractor that the bid was accepted)

5. Charitable Subscriptions

i. RULE (modern): Do NOT require consideration to be enforceable

ii. EXCEPTION: Pledge cards which have a “non-binding” clause

iii. Old Rule: Charitable subscriptions were justified by a strained application of promissory estoppel (Allegheny College v. Chautqua County Bank)

6. Donative promises

i. RULE: Unenforceable because no consideration

ii. EXCEPTION: Promissory Estoppel doctrine

7. How to ensure you, as an offeror, WON’T be caught up in promissory estoppel? Create a document which would lay out that neither party will make any expenditures until there is final approval by the head office AND that nothing is binding until the final written contract is executed.  

III. Statute of Frauds

A. R2D §131: 

1. Memoranda which satisfy statute of frauds must be signed

2. identify subject matter

3. sufficient to indicate that K had been made between parties

4. states with reasonable certainty the essential terms of the unperformed promises

B. Types of Ks which are generally covered by Statute of Frauds

1. Executor/Administrator: Writing required for executor who offers to pay debt of estate out of his own pocket (but if out of estate of deceased, it does not have to be in writing)

2. Suretyship 

i. RULE: Writing required in agreement between creditor and surety (one who assumes debt of a third party in case of default) – 
ii. EXCEPTIONS
a. Writing NOT required if the surety’s principal reason for acting was his own benefit (Yarbro v. Neil B. McGinnis Equipment Co.)

b. Writing NOT required in agreement between surety and debtor
3. Consideration of Marriage

4. Land transactions

i. RULES

a. K for sale of land must be in writing and must include dx of property

b. K for lease of land of certain duration (length depends on jurisdiction) must be in writing

c. K for easement must be in writing and must be specific as to dx of easement

5. Sale of Goods

i. RULE: §2-201

a. §2-201(1) - If sale of goods greater than $500 must have writing (for requirements Ks and distributorship Ks, if “good faith requirements” exceed $500)

1. sufficient to indicate that a K has been made

2. signed by the party against whom enforcement is sought

i. Includes any signal which shows intent to authenticate a writing.

ii. Letterhead can be the signature if you put forward the document as yours.  

iii. Electronic media: most states have now allowed that electronic signatures are valid.

3. Got to be a quantity term  (Eastern Dental Corp. v. Isaac Masel Co.)

b. §2-201(2) Merchants EXCEPTION – Implication that the only signature required is that of the party seeking to enforce the breach (as opposed to part 2 of (1); but this is only okay if:

1. Between merchants

2. Within reasonable time

3. A writing and confirmation of the pre-existing oral K

4. Sufficient against the sender (meets everything in (1) EXCEPT for the signature of the defendant)

5. Is received

6. The party receiving has reason to know of contents

7. Satisfies the requirements of (1)

8. The merchant does not object within 10 days (of receipt by the merchant – NOT business days) – Thompson Printing v. B.F. Goodrich
c. §2-201(3) – Other exceptions

1. Special Order goods that are already begun to be manufactured or procured

2. Court admission to oral K (then it is enforceable even though not written – can’t use statute of frauds to manipulate less sophisticated business associates and later hide behind it)

3. If payment accepted by seller or goods accepted by buyer 

i. If item is divisible, the K is enforceable to the extent you’ve paid for the goods, i.e. you’ve only paid part, then you only get the part that you paid for (order for ten widgets, you paid downpayment and that covers the cost of three, then you get three). 

ii. If item (like a car) cannot be divided into parts, then the court allows enforcement of the K as to the whole because it is not divisible. BUT you still have to show that there was an oral K – if dealer said that the payment was for the bumper and the buyer said that it was for the car, then it comes down to who the court believes.  WHY explicit writings are helpful. 

iii. In real estate – partial payment alone is not sufficient to enforce the K. In sale of goods, partial payment for divisible goods is enforceable to the extent of the number of goods that have been paid for; if indivisible good, then partial payment is good for specific enforcement.

ii. To determine if sale of goods or services: 

a. Primary purpose of K

b. Dollar amount – whether cost of goods or services is higher

c. EXCEPTION (some jurisdictions): If dispute only about the quality of goods, apply Article 2 to that issue; If it’s a problem with services, apply common law; if sale of goods apply UCC)

6. Employment Contracts

i. RULE: Must comport with one-year provision and include name, term of employment, salary, etc.

7. Modifications - §2-209(3) – are within the statute of frauds IF:

i. RULES

a. parties stipulated in original K that all modifications must be in writing

b. the modification puts the modified K within the statute of frauds, then the modification must be in writing (Added $200 to $400 K)

c. (Majority):  original K was within statute and modification to add an addt’l item which would otherwise NOT be in statute (e.g., add $100 item to existing $700 K), the modification must be in writing as well

d. (Minority): Same scenario as above, but modification would NOT have to be in writing

ii. EXCEPTIONS: 

a. If parties have expressly waived writing requirement

b. The party attempting to assert statute of frauds is estopped b/c of implied waiver (over the course of performance the parties have engaged in oral modifications, this would constitute an implied waiver)

1. §2-209(5): Parties can expressly rescind implied waiver and “get back to starting point” where written modifications were required

8. One-year provision

i. RULE: Writing required if by their own terms the K cannot be performed within one year. (Satterfiedl v. Missouri Dental Assoc.) 

a. Importance of counting the days

1. Year begins when offer is accepted (K is entered into) and ends at midnight of the anniversary of that day.  

2. Most states do not count weekends, holidays if they come at the END of the term

3. If offeror later “reaffirms” the K, then that restarts the clock.

b. NOTE: Ks of indefinite duration (even if it’s highly unlikely that the performance could take less than one year to fulfill) are NOT within the statute of frauds (DISSENT in McInerney v. Charter Golf)
ii. EXCEPTIONS

a. If one side fully performs within one year, then K is enforceable even if it is not in writing

b. Equitable Estoppel – If intentional fraud or misrepresentation and the only way to avoid a “grossly unjust and deep-seated wrong” is to enforce K.

c. Part-Performance

1. Elements of R2D §129

i. Part-performance (not preparation to perform)

ii. Reasonable reliance by Π
iii. Justice can only be avoided only by specific enforcement 

2. Must distinguish between part-performance and preparation for peroformance (Wagers v. Associated Mortgage Investors)

3. Part-performance in real estate K must include at LEAST two (and possibly all three, depending on jurisdiction):

i.  Delivery and assumption of actual and exclusive possession of the land

ii. Payment or tender of the consideration, whether in money, other property or services (not enough on it’s own - Δ could just give money back to avoid injustice – would not have to specifically perform)

iii. The making of permanent, substantial, and valuable improvements

C. Multiple memoranda: 

1. RULE: Mutliple memoranda satisfy statute so long as there is a sufficient connection between the multiple documents: 

i. if the signed document refers to the unsigned documents OR

ii. if the documents all refer to the same subject matter and the signed document must show that a K had been made (Crabtree v. Elizabeth Arden)

D. Mitigating Doctrines and Exceptions

1. Restitution – If K is within statute of frauds and invalid b/c of no writing, parties may still be liable for restitution damages (i.e. if employee works for two months and is fired from 2 year oral K, she still gets paid for the two months worked)

2. Part Performance (see supra one-year provision)

3. Admissions (see supra sale of goods)

4. Waiver and Estoppel – Estoppel can be used to get around S/F if there was detrimental reliance (McIntosh v. Murphy)

5. Confirmations (see supra sale of goods, merchant’s exception)

IV. Parol Evidence Rule

A. General

1. Definition

i. Any extrinsic evidence is never admissible to contradict an integrated agreement

ii. If the agreement is partially integrated, extrinsic evidence including parol evidence may be introduced for the purpose of adding to (supplementing) the partially integrated agreement.  

iii. If completely integrated (the exclusive and complete agreement) extrinsic evidence including parol evidence cannot be used even to supplement

a. EXCEPTION: Trade usage, course of dealing, course of performance

2. Extrinsic evidence

i. Surrounding circumstances

a. Relationship of parties – how familiar are they with each other

b. Market conditions

c. Nature of contract itself – the more money on the table, the more complex the agreement, the more complex the K

d. ***Course of Performance*** (really NOT parol evidence in the classic sense)

e. ***Course of Dealing***

f. ***Trade Usage***

ii. Parol Evidence

a. UCC Article 2: Evidence of oral or written agreements and negotiations prior to execution of final written K

b. Under common law – all oral agreements that predate the moment they enter into final writing is parol evidence, 

c. But as to those that are contemporaneous

1. Common law includes BOTH oral and written agreements contemporaneous with the execution of the final writing, 

2. UCC §2-202 includes only contemporaneous oral agreements, but NOT contemporaneous written agreements, so under the UCC contemporaneous written agreements are NOT parol evidence and the PER does not apply

iii. Integration

a. Three approaches (depends on jurisdiction)

1. Williston (hard-nosed) – 4-Corners Rule – you look within the four corners of the K and decide if it looks complete or not based on the type of K

2. Modified Williston approach – Look at 4-Corners to make decision + “surrounding circumstances” but NOT parol evidence (e.g., perhaps the K doesn’t look complete, but if the parties have long-standing relationship it might be)

3. Corbin/R2D/allegedly UCC approach – Judge looks at 4-Corners and surrounding circumstances and parol evidence ONLY as to whether the K was integrated.

i. R2D §216: If the parol evidence would be “naturally omitted” from the written agreement, then partial integration

ii. UCC §2-202(Comment 3 – inverse reasoning of common law): If the oral agreement (parol evidence): If the parol evidence would “certainly have been included” in the final written agreement, then complete integration

b. Other factors

1. Merger (or integration) clause

i. Classic approach: Merger clauses are determinative

ii. R2D/UCC approach: Not controlling, but evidence of intent as to complete integration

iii. Courts are moving back towards formalism and embracing merger clauses

2. Amount of negotiation - the less negotiation, the more likely that the writing will not have all of the terms and would therefore be partially integrated

3. Sophistication of the parties – the less sophisticated the parties, the more sympathetic the courts will be as to whether the writing was completely integrated

B. Effects

1. Betaco v. Cessna – If K is clear and unambiguous, then parol evidence not permitted

2. Implied terms

i. The more that a term is understood in the type of K at issue as being a stock implied term (a very basic concept as to the type of K), then the court will imply the term and the parol evidence cannot contradict the implied term (Luria Bros. v. Pielet)

ii. The more obtuse the issue, the less likely the court will find that the term is implied and thus the parol evidence contradicts (thus the parol evidence gets in)

C. Exceptions

1. Collateral Agreements

i. If separate consideration, then potentially collateral agreement

ii. Courts have tended to muddy this with partial/complete integration question
a. Mitchill v. Lath

1. Agreement for icehouse was NOT considered collateral b/c no separate consideration

2. Really this is a case about parol evidence (not collateral agreement)

b. Lee v. Seagram & Sons

1. Contemporaneous oral agreement was NOT barred b/c deemed collateral agreement

2. You can supplement a partially integrated agreement

3. So, either way admissible

i. Supplement to partially integrated agreement (trial court approach)

ii. Collateral agreement (appeals court approach)

2. Promissory Estoppel
i.  If there is a completely integrated agreement and you try to introduce extrinsic evidence under promissory estoppel theory, then you have two hurdles
a. If valid K, promissory estoppel is NOT available (unless you can successfully contend that this is a collateral agreement unrelated to the original K)
b. Cts are now using PER to say that you can’t admit extrinsic evidence (in this case a promise)
3. Modifications b/c they come AFTER the formation of the K

4. Condition Precedent to formation

5. To show evidence of fraud, mistake, duress, or other bases for avoidance

D. Interpretation

1. Surrounding Circumstances and Evidence of Intent

i. In reality, often subsumed in questions of integration – difference is whether to explain the meaning of a term or to determine whether you can supplement the agreement

ii. Merger clauses relevant to integration but NOT to interpretation (e.g., if you can show that a term is ambiguous, then you can bring in extrinsic evidence to explain the meaning)

iii. Two prong test

a. FIRST: Determining if there is ambiguity – Question of law determined by judge. Two approaches:

1. Plain meaning rule (like 4 corners approach to integration)

i. Figure out meaning of the term based on

a. Agreement itself

b. MAY look at surrounding circumstances (COP, COD, trade usage)

c. Do NOT look at private understandings

ii. Unless judge finds that the writing was ambiguous, in which case judge would hear extrinsic evidence (including parol evidence)

iii. Ethyl v. Forcum-Lannom - 
2. Corbin/UCC/R2D

i. Look at

a. Agreement itself

b. Surrounding circumstances (infra)

c. Private understandings between parties

ii. Pacific Gas v. G.W. Thomas Drayage – During process of construction, damage to plaintiff’s property.  Question as to scope of indemnity clause (applied only to third parties, or to Π themselves). Court took broad approach – looked at private understanding between parties to determine if there was an ambiguity.
b. SECOND: IF there is ambiguity (whether by plain meaning rule or broader rule), then becomes question of fact for jury as to what is the correct interpretation of the meaning and may look to
2. Usage of Trade, Course of Dealing, Course of Performance (§2-202)

i. Priority of interpretation (§2-208)

a. Express terms

b. Course of performance

c. Course of dealing

d. Trade usage

ii. No prior finding of ambiguity is necessary to introduce COD or trade usage

iii. Can be used for interpretation and supplementing an agreement (unless the K expressly disallows trade usage, etc. from being applied for purposes of interpretation and supplementing)

iv. Cannot EVER be used for contradicting clauses

v. Course of performance is not strictly parol evidence because it comes in AFTER the creation of agreement, but may be used for purposes of interpreting parties intent at time of K formation or intent to waive the provision

vi. Nanakuli Paving v. Shell Oil – Ct. held that Shell was held to trade usage and course of performance even though the trade usage was only specific to stone not petroleum component of asphalt. Court’s test: 

a. Course of performance (§2-208): One time performed prior to ambiguity is NOT enough to satisfy course of performance requirement, but jurisdictional split as to HOW many times the parties must have consistently performed

b. Trade usage (§1-205): Was the trade usage regularly observed such that the parties knew or had reason to know (and cannot contradict)

3. Rules of Interpretation (§202) – general rules

V. Avoidance of the contract

A. Misunderstanding (not on exam)

1. General rule is objective test, but if the parties clearly NEVER had any mutual assent at all because of fundamental misunderstanding of essential term, then obj. test doesn’t work and no K formed

i. Doesn’t get much play in court because of requirement for fundamental misunderstanding, and it is hard to prove that the misunderstanding is fundamental

ii. Cannot get out of K if one party knew or had reason to know that the counter-party was harboring a misunderstanding

2. Raffles v. Wichelhaus – Dispute over when cotton was to be delivered, based on two ships named “Peerless” which were arriving in different months. Ct found that there was no K b/c of misunderstanding.

B. Mistake

1. Mutual Mistake

i. Balancing of sanctity of contract and fairness

ii. Courts are interpreting Ks more strictly and NOT allowing parties to avoid by alleging mistake

iii. Both parties have a belief not in accordance with the facts

a. May be as to law or facts

b. Not interested in wrong assumptions about the future (i.e. whether market value will increase)

iv. §152(1) – test is if the parties knew the true fact, then one or both would not have agreed

a. wrong assumption by BOTH parties

b. as to a basic assumption on which K was made

c. about same material fact 

1. though the parties may have a different wrong assumption about the fact

2. the more the fact would harm one and benefit the other the more likely the ct will rescind the K

d. Sherwood v. Walker – Parties thought the cow was barren, but she was in fact pregnant.  Ct. found that it WAS a mutual mistake about a material fact and thus K not enforceable
v. §154 (b) – conscious ignorance test

a. Wood v. Boynton – Jeweler bought a stone that turns out to be a diamond. Ct found that though there was a mistake, Wood KNEW she only had limited knowledge and thus K was enforceable 

b. Limitation to conscious ignorance test - Bailey v. Ewing

1. There WAS conscious ignorance as to the property boundary by both parties, BUT NEITHER thought that it went through the house

vi. §154(c) – typically decided by trade usage. Ex: if building site owner and contractor both share mistake re the type of soil, if the contractor SHOULD have known, then he is held to it.

vii. Williams v. Glash

a. Car accident. Victim took check for property damage which included release for any other claims. At time, victim knew not of personal injuries which came later  
b. Majority argues that the release should NOT be enforced b/c of mistake by victim
c. Dissent argues should balance rights of victim to recover v. interest in quieting claims
2. Unilateral Mistake

i. Tough to show – most cases are wrong bids by contractors – 1st Baptist Church v. Barber Contracting
ii. Simple negligence does not keep one from using mistake as a defense (gross negligence is)

iii. If mistake is judgment call issue (i.e. bidder thinks they can do it more efficiently and therefore less expensively), then they cannot get out of the K based on mistake

C. Fraud (like mistake, but fraudulent misrepresentation)

1. Related tort of deceit – somewhat different than contract law theory of misrepresentation
i. Primary difference is one of elements and remedy
ii. Remedy in contract is rescission + restitution
iii. In tort of deceit remedy is money damages for harm, injury, consequential damages
iv. Issue is when a party can avoid their contractual obligation because of the theory of misrepresentation. Requires:
a. Assertion of fact (as opposed to opinion)
1. Opinion v. Fact

i. What might otherwise be considered opinion may be actionable (assertion of fact)  when the other contracting party has “superior knowledge” – in this case they are dance instructors

ii. Who makes the statement is thus significant – the more the relationship is one of trust and confidence (fiduciary), the more likely an opinion will be considered an assertion.

2. To get out of a contract for misrepresentation is it necessary that the party making the statement knew that the statements was false and intended to deceive the recipient? NO. Is intent necessary for the tort of deceit? YES.

3. Form? Not necessarily an express statement.  Can also be:

i. Withholding information (silence)

ii. Concealment (constructing a dummy ventilation system)

4. Vokes v. Arthur Murray, Inc. (p. 584) 1968 FL Ct of Appeals – statement of opinion, but by one who had “expertise”
b. Assertion must be 1) fraudulent (knowledge of falsity + intent to deceive) AND 2) material
1. Is materiality measured subjectively or objectively?

i. Usually reasonable person test (Coisineau)

c. Whether there was justifiable reliance
1. If recipient did not rely on the statement in making their decision whether to enter into K, then not actionable.  Ex: Seller says great timber on this piece of property and says “you could probably get $1000 for this timber” and the buyer gets it appraised and discovers that it’s only worth $500, but goes ahead and buys it anyway.  EVEN if the assertion was fraudulent, it does not meet this element and is not actionable

2. There is also “justifiable” element – can be somewhat unjustified – it is unjustifiable only when it is “wholly irrational” or in “bad faith”. (§169 - 

3. Cousineau v. Walker (p. 595) 1980 S. Ct of AL

i. Two issues: highway frontage and amount of gravel

ii. Here п did rely on the Δ’s assertion – he did not get outside appraisal.

2. §161 – When non-disclosure is equivalent to an assertion
i. Background rule: if no assertion then no misrepresentation (no duty to speak generally)
ii. §161 are the exceptions
a. ex: seller says there’s no mold, but finds it two days later
b. ex: guy goes out to farmland in hill country and the guy says “I’m so glad there’s no cedar” in front of seller, who knows there is cedar but seller doesn’t say anything
c. close to sub-b, but effect of writing
d. relationship of trust or confidence
iii. Stambovsky v. Ackley

a. §161(b) is closest – in good faith the sellers should have informed them of the poltergeists BECAUSE they had been the ones to publicize the ghosts

3. A statement about what one will do in the FUTURE is not fraud or misrepresentation.

i. Rather, this would be a warranty – and if the warranty is breached then there would be remedies for breach of warranty
ii. Exception: If the person making statement about the future event knew that they had no intention AND no ability to do the promised thing in the future, then it MAY be fraud (Problem 117 – this may be a breach of contract, but not likely grounds for rescission)

D. Duress

1. Types of duress

i. Threats of physical force

ii. Threats of bodily harm (to the contracting party or someone else)

iii. Threats to physical property

2. Duress not frequently used

3. Just because someone is “pushed” to complete a K is not grounds for rescission

4. Elements

i. of duress

a. Wrongful threat

b. That deprives the other party of their free will

ii. of economic duress (tough to show)

a. Economic harm is at stake

b. Offending party must have created the circumstance

5. Totem Marine Tug and Barge v. Alyeska Pipeline Service Co.

i. Wrongful threat was forcing a lower amount than what is due to Totem

E. Unfriendly persuasion/Undue Influence

1. Elements
i. Exercise of influence in such an unfair manner that it causes someone to decide differently than they otherwise would (a defendant unfairly taking advantage of a known weakness of plaintiff)
ii. Unfair persuasion
2. Odorizzi v. Bloomfield School District

i. What is this case NOT?

a. Why not duress?  NOT an improper threat (it was legal for the officials to fire him)

b. Why not misrepresentation? The officials did not misrepresent what they were going to do.

c. Why not mistake? Parties did not have a belief that was not in accordance with facts

ii. What is the pressure by Δs? Loss of job, loss of reputation

iii. What is the weakness of п? Lack of sleep, no time to think about it, time of night, no attorneys

3. Problem 119 – 

F. Illegality – review problems
1. General

i. if both parties are involved in contractual relationship that involves an illegal act, they are left exactly where they are when the complaint arises (the court will not do anything to alleviate the problem).  

ii. That is not a fair rule if only one of the parties is engaged in an illegal activity and the other party is not aware of it – so generally there will be recourse for the ignorant party.

2. Bennett v. Hayes

i. Facts: Hayes brought car to Bennett for repair. Bennett did not give written estimate, as required by law. 

3. Licensing – difference is whether the license is intended for the public protection or for taxation purposes as to whether a K is enforceable for a party w/o a license; i.e., if the purpose is for public protection, then K is NOT typically enforceable.  

i. § 181 – If party A does not hold license and party B contracts with him, party A cannot enforce the K if:

a. the license requirement has a regulatory purpose AND

b. the interest in the enforcement of the promise is clearly outweighed by the public policy behind the enforcement (usually when this is for public welfare rather than revenue purpose)

ii. Problem 121 (lawyer practicing without a license) – lawyer cannot enforce the K

iii. Problem 122 (department store issues credit card without a license from state) – store may enforce the CC debts

iv. Hot dog vendor without license – depends on why the license is issued; if for food safety, then probably enforceable sales

4. Constraints in Restraint of Trade

i. Employment Ks/Anti-compete clause

a. What are interests that seek to be protected by anti-compete clauses?

1. Protection of employer

i. Keeping safe trade secrets

ii. Protecting clients of company

2. Balanced with: 

i. Interests of public in seeking lower costs from increased competition 

ii. Ability of former employee to make a living

b. Cannot write anti-compete clauses such that there are no restraints. Limitations are:

1. Spatial – geographical area that the former employer covers (can’t be overbroad)

2. Temporal – the longer the constraint runs the more unfair; also greater compensation required to make the constraint enforceable

3. Scope - Definition of what occupation is constrained

c. Blue-penciling (editing the constraint to make it enforceable)

1. Whether you can blue-pencil depends upon the nature of the constraint

2. If you decide NOT to blue-pencil, then the message is sent that the employer better get it right, because it’s either all enforceable or all not.

3. Not all jurisdictions allow blue-penciling

i. Some allow it all the time

ii. Some never allow it

iii. Middle position (Fletcher court) determines that blue-penciling is okay if the parties are in relatively equal bargaining positions

d. White v. Fletcher/Mayo/Associates, Inc – Courts are reluctant to enforce anti-compete clauses if they are overbroad, particularly in regard to employees (as opposed to those who sell business, who presumably rcv. Consideration for the anti-compete clause.
ii. Notes from Kelly
G. Mental Infirmity/Insanity
1. Cognitive
i. Person has no ability to determine what it is that they have done
a. When they entered into the contract, they didn’t realize what they were doing (thought they were on a cruise, for example)
ii. Volitional
a. Know they are entering into a K, but have no ability to determine/understand the consequences of the K
b. General Rule - A party is not allowed to get out of a K unless the other party had reason to know of the infirmity
2. Problem 12 
i. If there is an adjudication as to mental infirmity:
ii. The court decision does not last forever—becomes rebuttable after time
3. Problem 126
i. Intoxication as incapacity
a. Courts are reluctant to let parties out for overuse of drugs or alcohol
b. Typically will hold party to contract unless there was clear evidence that other party had reason to know
c. And then only if it is a cognitive problem, rather than a volitional one
H. Ratification
1. A party can affirm a contract despite the fact that there was a problem in how it came together
i. Minority, infirmity, unconscionability, etc.
2. Once ratified, the contract is enforceable
3. A minor, upon reaching majority, who affirms the contract cannot then disaffirm it.  
i. What if the minor doesn’t say anything, but goes ahead and starts performing under the contract?
a. By conduct rather than by express statement
1. If, upon reaching the age of majority, a minor starts accepting benefits of the contract for a period of time, then the minor is considered to have ratified the contract—it is enforceable
b. Mere passage of time may ratify
1. At some point too much time passes
2. Can be a ratification even before time for performance for either party. Some cts would hold that mere passage of time if you fail to disaffirm after age of majority, you could be held to ratify after mere passage of time.  Other courts hold that it is NOT true unless the other contracting party was harmed by the passage of time.  
c. When does a minor have to make restitution to the other party?
1. General rule: If the minor still has the goods, they have to give it (or any portion) back.
2. What if the thing no longer exists?
i. Majority rule: if the thing no longer exists, then the minor does not have to give ANYTHING back
a. Exception: necessities – e.g. shelter, food, clothing, sometimes cars depending on circumstances (and even then, only the reasonable value, not the contracting value)
ii. Minority rule: Must give restitution for all goods, even if not necessities. 
3. Some jurisdictions enacted statutes that if minor misrepresents their age, then all bets are off – can’t get out of K. Others have statutes that if minor is running a business, then you are bound by K, to the K price.
4. Problem 126

i. Courts are reluctant to let parties out for overuse of drugs or alcohol
a. Typically will hold party to contract unless there was clear evidence that other party had reason to know
b. And then only if it is a cognitive problem, rather than a volitional one
ii. If just cognitive infirmity, no req. that there was reason to know by the other party to void K
I. Unconscionability
1. General: To what extent, if any, can a party ask the court to void a K on the basis of unconscionability?  Theoretically can do so based on any individual provisions or even on the K as a whole
2. Time of determination? When the K was formed
3. Test for substantive unconscionability? There is a hearing and the hearing has to do with whether, in the commercial setting, it is reasonable. 
4. Procedural v. Substantive unconscionability – usually both are required
i. Williams v. Walker-Thomas Furniture Co.

a. Woman bought furniture on credit, over time.  The financing was structured such that ALL of the items were a security interest for the default on any one payment.  
b. Three factors required for finding of unconscionability (procedural?)
1. Unequal bargaining power

2. Manner signed (did each party have opportunity to understand terms?)

3. Fine print

c. Procedural unc – unequal bargaining power

d. Substantive – the term itself

ii. Maxwell v. Fidelity Financial Services

a. Procedural unc – party was door-to door salesman (won’t leave until plaintiff signed the K)
b. Substantive unc – the cost of the product was outrageous, financing was high
iii. Perdue v. Crocker Natl. Bank

a. Procedural unc –  Absence of meaningful choice, adhesion K provision, consumers didn’t know what they were signing (thought it was just signature card)
b. Substantive unc – Fee was too high, fact that the K was only one-sided
iv. Weaver v. American Oil Co.

a. Procedural unc – that the clause was in fine print, and the agent did not draw the plaintiff’s attention to it, unequal bargaining power (gas station lessee was under-educated), K of adhesion
b. Substantive unc – unfair K provision that assigned all risk to high school drop out gas station lessee
5. Note: If you have a substantive agreement that is so harsh, the court can find it to be so blatant that they will wave the procedural requirement. It is sort of a sliding rule – the more procedural uncl. That is present, the less substantive you need, and v.v
6. Unc. Is VERY hard to prove – almost impossible. It is rarely allowed in any cases, and decreasingly so.  Despite the fact that this doctrine exists, we have many countervailing policies:
i. Freedom of contract 
ii. Courts don’t look into adequacy of consideration – courts ought not look to see if the bargain is “fair”
iii. Market considerations
iv. Encouraging parties to read and understand what they sign: A party has the right to read the K, and then they are obligated to follow the terms
v. Adhesion Ks? 
a. Allowing for negotiation for each K would be VERY inefficient (think Amazon, Dell, etc.) – transaction costs would be very high
7. §2-302 – Unconscionability provision (p. 674 in CB)
i. Why matter of law for judge, and not jury – b/c creditors lobbied for this, reasoning that the juries would be overly sympathetic for consumer.
ii. Is hearing mandatory? Split of authority – majority do require hearing as to commercial setting.
8. Don’t need to know unc. In leasing of goods
J. Reformation
1. Doctrine that is fairly ltd in application – primarily ltd to “scrivener’s error” – when both parties agreed to certain terms, but for some reason the final reason is not what they agreed to.  
2. Potential conflicts with parol evidence rule – so the courts require that the parties show by clear and convincing evidence that there was  a mistake.
3. Beynon Bldg corp v. Natl Guardian Life Insurance Co.

i. S/L issue: When does the s/l begin to toll? Split b/w tort and K law:
a. General rule in tort law, unless otherwise specified by statute, it begins to run at the time that the person who is making complaint knew or should have known of the c/a.  
b. In contract law, the s/l begins to run the moment the K is entered into.
ii. S/l had run for the mortgage company to reform the K.  BUT Natl. argues that Beynon is estopped from asserting s/l as a defense. Estoppel requires that there be a statement that the other party relies on to their detriment. Here Natl argues that Beynon knew that the mortgage payments were in error but didn’t mention it. 
iii. Beynon also asserted laches – common law corollary to s/l. Laches time period is usually assumed to be the same as an analogous s/l. Here, the court finds that the s/l period is no shorter than the laches period.
K. Impossibility – Rarely ever works (depending on the nature of the problem)
1. Taylor v. Caldwell

i. Facts: Parties entered into K for “letting” a piece of property with a building on four separate occasions. The building burned down before the performance on the K.  
a. Why impossibility not a frequent defense (e.g., if a component part ends up being much more expensive for manufacturer, why can’t he get out for impossibility b/c it’s no longer profitable?)
1. Certainty in K formation
ii. RULE: If you cause the problem that keeps you from performing, then you cannot use impossibility as a defense (i.e., if Caldwell had burned the building down, he wd have no defense)
iii. If the premises existence was a “basic assumption” of the K by both parties, and the thing or person on which this assumption is based is destroyed through no fault of 
2. § 2-615. Excuse by Failure of Presupposed Conditions

i. Except so far as a seller may have assumed a greater obligation and subject to the preceding section on substituted performance: 

a. Delay in delivery or non-delivery in whole or in part by a seller who complies with paragraphs (b) and (c) is not a breach of his duty under a contract for sale if performance as agreed has been made impracticable by the occurrence of a contingency the non-occurrence of which was a basic assumption on which the contract was made or by compliance in good faith with any applicable foreign or domestic governmental regulation or order whether or not it later proves to be invalid. 

b. Where the causes mentioned in paragraph (a) affect only a part of the seller's capacity to perform, he must allocate production and deliveries among his customers but may at his option include regular customers not then under contract as well as his own requirements for further manufacture. He may so allocate in any manner which is fair and reasonable. 

c. The seller must notify the buyer seasonably that there will be delay or non-delivery and, when allocation is required under paragraph (b), of the estimated quota thus made available for the buyer.

ii. When is impossibility not available?
a. If the non-occurrence was within the fault of the party who is seeking enforcement
b. If there is an allocation of the risk by a force majeure clause
c. The event which makes performance impossible was foreseeable
d. If the non-occurrence of the event was within a party’s reasonable control
iii. Nissho-Iwai v. Occidental Crude Sales, Inc.

a. Force-majeure clause – included to allocate risk. Initially intended to include only acts of God, but now are interpreted more broadly.  
b. Reasonable control is at issue regardless of whether the parties have said anything about reasonable control – it is read into the party’s responsibility as outlined in the K (hard to K out of reasonable control)
c. The court argues that even though the Libyan govt. was playing unfair, it did not excuse Occidental from performance on the K. The question comes down to reasonableness. Was their cooperation with Libya reasonable? What about the sand in the pipeline?  
iv. Problem 129
a. Rule: If contractor is hired to build a bldg from scratch and it is destroyed before completion, the risk is on the builder (assuming no K provision to the contrary and no insurance). 
b. Corollary Rule: With painting, the contractor would be excused if the bldg burned down (the contractor wd get paid for the performance)
v. Problem 130
a. Rule: If both parties are on joint venture and the likelihood is that it cannot be accomplished, then they both would share the risk. But, when one party says that they CAN perform, then they would be liable for non-performance. Here the contractor accepted the risk and would be liable
vi. Problem 131
a. § 2-613. Casualty to Identified Goods

1. Where the contract requires for its performance goods identified when the contract is made, and the goods suffer casualty without fault of either party before the risk of loss passes to the buyer, or in a proper case under a "no arrival, no sale" term (Section 2-324) then 

i. if the loss is total the contract is avoided; and 

ii. if the loss is partial or the goods have so deteriorated as no longer to conform to the contract the buyer may nevertheless demand inspection and at his option either treat the contract as avoided or accept the goods with due allowance from the contract price for the deterioration or the deficiency in quantity but without further right against the seller.

b. Goods are not identified (re 2-613) until such time as:
1. They exist
2. They are specified to a particular K
c. This section does not kick in until the specific goods are specified as to a particular buyer (if contractor Ks for 10 tons of grain, it is NOT sufficiently identified, but it IS identified if the contractor signs invoice as to the time and date and train that the particular shipment of grain was being delivered)
vii. Problem 132
a. 2-613 does NOT apply. Does 2-615 apply? NO. It is not the buyer’s responsibility where the seller comes up with the supply UNLESS the parties specifically agree that the K is not enforceable if a particular supply source dries up, and they agree that K performance depends upon that source.  Here, the Navy doesn’t care where the chickens came from, they just care that they got the pies.
viii. Problem 133
a. Buyer is not responsible for the loss of the crop unless the buyer agrees specifically to a limitation on the K that the potatoes are coming from this particular crop of potatoes.  McGregor could have gotten the potatoes elsewhere.
3. Sunflower Electric v. Tomlinson Oil

i. K for supply of natural gas. Turned out that it was a bad well.  
ii. Reason why the Δs didn’t get off the hook here is the very reason why Δs USUALLY didn’t get off the hook: foreseeability
a. If the matter that caused the problem was foreseeable, then the party should have allocated the risk if they were worried about it.  
b. Like mutual mistake conscious ignorance test?
4. Impracticability?
i. Problem 129 – the builder cannot get out for impracticability, but the painter can
ii. Mere increases in prices are not sufficient to make a K impracticable
iii. Sale of crops? If farmer contracts to sell an amount of produce, they are NOT excused for impracticability if the crop fails b/c the buyer does NOT have a basic assumption that the crops will come from the seller/farmer’s field. BUT if the farmer and buyer have agreed that the crops will come from a particular field then it COULD be considered a basic assumption and the farmer could get out by impracticability.  
iv. Force majeure clause is designed to deal with risk allocation. BUT the courts may also allocate risks if the party was in “reas control”.  Courts will imply a “reasonable control” element into a K even if it wasn’t there. Where a party could have reasonably foreseen the results when they were in the process of K (must be adjudged at time of K’ing), then the party will allocate the risk to the party who foresaw the risk.  
v. Early cases involved objective IMPOSSIBILITY – that it was truly impossible. But now the test is IMPRACTICABILITY, combined with reasonable control. (if it is within reasonable control of a party, then the non-occurrence cannot be basis for avoidance on basis of impracticability).
5. Frustration of purpose
i. VERY hard to prove.  The courts construe the purpose very broadly, such that the party can almost never get out for frustration of purpose
ii. No code language, but 2-615 is generally considered to cover frustration of purpose
iii. Krell v. Henry

a. Henry K’d to rent rooms to watch coronation, but the coronation didn’t happen.
b. Distinction drawn between a cab hired to go to Derby and the Derby was cancelled.  Distinction court draws is that the cab is not uniquely equipped for the purpose of taking the recipient to the races. The foundation of the K of the cab is that it will take the recipient to the derby – the cabbie is not interested in the recipient’s purposes for going to the derby. For the rooms to let, the foundation of K is that the rooms will be used to view the coronation, and the agent knows that this is the purpose of the recipient.  Court is not artful at describing this distinction.
c. It is the recipient’s frustration which has been frustrated – in this case it is the person who is leasing the premises
iv. Groseth v. Tenneco

a. Elements of frustration of purpose (741)
1. The purpose that is frustrated must have been a principal purpose of that party in making the K
i. Trial court says that the purpose was to have a franchise, and this wasn’t frustrated
ii. Not making enough profit is NOT a frustration of purpose
2. The frustration must be substantial
3. The non-occurrence of the frustrating event must have been a basic assumption on which the K was made
v. Problem 134 – someone else can wear the dress
vi. Would be a loser b/c on the rising price situation, this would not be a winner
VI. Conditions and Promises
A. Basic Concepts
1. Course is all about promises to perform
2. Issues in this chapter
i. When is party’s obligation to fulfill a promise due? 
ii. What effect is there on that performance obligation when the other party doesn’t perform?
iii. When a performance obligation which would otherwise arise does not b/c it is conditioned on something.
iv. When can you not complete your performance (e.g., pay for a service) in the face of the counter-party’s breach? Can you walk away? Only when the breach is MATERIAL.  
B. Examples
1. Problem 136
i. Condition or promise? 
ii. Must look first at the intent of the parties.  
a. Where do you look? (engaged in process of interpretation)
1. Express language in the K (only if, on condition that, provided that, etc.)

2. Course of performance (as defined in 2-208)

3. Course of dealing (as defined in 1-205)

4. Trade usage (as defined in 1-205)

5. Four corners of document (other provisions which are relevant as to shedding light on parties intent – i.e., if the parties use proper conditional language in another part but not the term at issue)

6. Parol Evidence (but must have prior finding of ambiguity at common law)

7. Ask if would result in forfeiture (preference against forfeiture)

iii. If express condition precedent, then NO obligation for other party to perform

iv. If only a promise, then may be action for damages (but may be constructive (implied in law) conditions to other party’s performance – may be both constructive conditions precedent or concurrent).  

v. Answer: if not giving notice is condition precedent, then insurance company does not have to pay. 

2. Problem 137

C. Express Conditions and Implied-In-Fact Conditions
1. Express Conditions – IS THERE ONE?
i. Conditions precedent – if sally’s promised performance is conditioned upon something occurring that is an express condition precedent, then sally doesn’t have to perform until that express condition is met.  The Black letter law is that it has to be met exactly.  Determined by the intent of the parties – did they intend an express condition precedent? There is public policy against conditions precedent if the parties were not very clear – b/c of forfeiture (cts will interpret a K as to avoid forfeiture, so long as it is not contrary to the express intent of the parties)
ii. Sometimes the ct may find that even though there is an express condition, there is an excuse that serves to wipe the condition out, i.e. the other party may have to perform even if the condition is not met, because of the excuse.
iii. Howard v. Federal Crop Insurance Corp.

a. FCIC does not want to pay on the loss by Howard of his tobacco plants.  They argue that they don’t have to pay UNTIL they have the chance to inspect the stalks.  BUT the problem is that the language of 5(f) does not include the language of 5(b) – “it shall be a condition precedent”.  THUS in 5(b) you have shown that you can use the particular words of “condition precedent”, so the fact that they were NOT used in 5(f) implies that there was NOT a condition precedent. 
b. Wat is the implication of finding condition precedent v. finding of a promise? 
1. If the language is only that of a promise, then that gives rise to a breach action, which gives rise to a remedy. 
2. However, the failure of meeting an express condition precedent is that the other party’s performance obligation never comes to fruition.
c. How to decide if it is a condition precedent?
1. Express intent of parties in contract
2. Presumption AGAINST forfeiture
3. Surrounding circumstances
iv. Jones Associates v. Eastside

a. Words that indicate a condition precedent: “provided that”, “on condition”, “when”, “so that”, “while”, “as soon as”, and “after”.  
b. Was there an express condition precedent to Jones Assoc. being paid that the zoning board approve the plans? 
1. Start with the intent as expressed in the K: provision of “Engineer shall be responsible for obtaining King County approval for all platting as set forth above”.  The ct concludes that this is a promise rather than a condition precedent b/c
i. None of the words of condition were included in the provision
ii. Also ct looked at conduct preceding the entrance into the K – course of dealing indicated that there was no condition precedent, b/c Eastside already paid JA for the first bit of work.
2. Thus, there is no condition precedent, but Eastide may yet recover damages for JA’s failure to obtain the requisite approval from zoning board
v. Omaha Public Power District v. Employers’ Fire Insurance Co.

a. Express condition precedent: Omaha K’d with Kirby to remove some power lines. Kirby had to get insurance, but they couldn’t get it b/c they had just had a big workers comp claim.

b. Big issue in these condition precedent cases is often whether parol evidence is admissible.  Exception for conditions precedent to performance, but not exception for parol evidence rule for condition to formation.

2. Implied in Fact

i. Bright v. Ganas

a. Rare example where the court implies an express condition implied in fact.  The court found that the parties had an express condition – not to engage in improper conduct with the spouse of the person one was hired to serve.  

b. Courts will rarely find an express condition precedent by reading the words of condition into the K.  Usually the court must find a stated, express condition precedent.  Generally without express language, you do not have an express condition precedent. YOU sometimes can get around it with parol evidence with an oral agreement. It is VERY rare for the courts (as this court did) to read in an express condition when there was no intent of the parties, written or oral.

D. Conditions Precedent vs. Conditions Subsequent ***Minor importance (don’t spend time on exam)

1. Very rarely is an issue.  
2. Conditon subsequent – the obligation is already in existence, but ceases upon a stated event.  Ex: True condition subsequent: insurance policy provides that you have to pay a premium each month to continue policy.  If there is an injury, you will be covered UNLESS you do not inform the company within six months.  This is a condition subsequent.
3. Gray v. Gardner

i. Classic case re conditions precedent/subsequent

E. Types of express conditions, including conditions of satisfaction (assuming that there IS an express condtion)

1. What if the condition was one of satisfaction - where the parties perf obligation was subject to cond precedent?

2. Hutton v. Monograms Plus, Inc.

i. Question: Condition precedent was that the performance obligation was not going to kick in until something occurred to that person’s satisfaction. What does that mean? Do we use objective test or a subjective test? 

ii. Condition precedent: that Hutton would be able to get financing suitable to him (satisfaction clause)

iii. Subjective v. objective tests

a. Objective

1. Would a reasonable person have been satisfied that the condition was met? 

2. Usually objective for commercial transactions

3. Exception: Ard v. Pepsi – if the party is the only one who is capable of making the determination if it is satsifactory

b. Subjective 

1. relates to matters involving fancy, personal taste, or judgment/aesthetic taste, feasibility of operation or management, ex: portrait painting, also when it would impracticable to apply an objective std

2. subject to good faith requirement (usually subjective good faith, but for merchants under article 2 both objective and subjective).  

3. Gulf Construction Co. v. Self

i. Question of subcontractor v contractor – is there typically a condition that the sub will not be paid until the contractor is? NO. But in this case, the contractor worked this language in the K.  

ii. General rule: if there is a general statement that the sub will be paid when the contractor is paid, then that means that there is SOME time for delay (depending on when contractor gets paid), but that it is not a condition precedent – the contractor must still pay even if he doesn’t get paid.  Even though the language in this case is strong (under no circumstances shall the general con… make payments to the sub until the funds have been advanced or paid by the owner”

iii. Underlying policy concern – AGAINST forfeiture and reinforcing expectation of subs that the CONTRACTOR will pay, and the contractor should bear the risk that the owner won’t pay, not the subs.  ‘

iv. In order to get a condition precedent validated in a sub K like this, you must be VERY explcit while still trying to avoid unconscionability – use the words “condition precedent” in big letters.  

4. Problem 140 - delay in payment not an absolute precedent (poor question)

5. Problem 141 – conditions for satisfactory obtaining financing - courts have interpreted implied promise to try to obtain financing in good faith

6. Condition precedent to formation (EXCEPTION to parol evidence rule) -  v. condition precedent to performance (preference of courts – parol evidence rule IS applicable).  BUT there can be conditions precedent to formation – then no mutual assent.   ISSUE is parties’ intent – did they intend to have a K? If so, then conditions will be interpreted as relating to performance obligation rather than formation.  

7. Pym v. Campbell

i. Will listen to parol evidence b/c this is an issue of condition precedent to formation rather than performance

F. Performance and Constructive Conditions (not express conditions)

1. Why do we have constructive conditions? Previously covenants in Ks were independent. Didn’t work too well (I promise to sell you a book and you agree to buy it – I still have to pay you $500 even if you don’t sell me the book – stupid). So courts come up with concept of concurrent conditions of exchange and constructive conditions precedent to performance. 

2. Typically the conditions will be concurrent – your promise to sell me the book is concurrent with my promise to buy (we have to do them both at the same time).  

3. Shaw v. Mobil Oil

i. Franchisee agrees to pay a percentage of gas sold, with minimum rental of $470/month. The franchisee is also supposed to buy 200K<x<$500K per year.  Mobil supplies less than the prescribed amount, but expects the full minimum rent. Shaw argues that his payment of the full rent is impliedly conditioned upon Mobil’s meeting the requested supply.

ii. Court agrees – rent was DEPENDENT and thus the supply of gas was a condition precedent to Shaw paying rent. In reality, these were mutually dependent obligations (b/c the supply of gas next month is conditioned on Shaw paying rent this month).  

iii. Commercial impracticability is an excuse for performance – if you could show that performance was impracticable, you would be excused from performance.  One valid excuse is that if you are prohibited from performing by federal law.  Mobil therefore argues that b/c the performance was excused (and therefore avoids damages for breach), that DOESN”T mean that Shaw must nonetheless pay the minimum rent.  

4. R2D 234 – order of performances

i. Assumption is that both parties must tender at same time OR the K is one where it is provided otherwise (e.g. the seller must deliver the goods over a three week period, and one week later the buyer will tender payment)

ii. Examples

a. Problem 142:  There was to be a tender of payment at time of delivery of boat. B/c neither party tendered, then there is no breach.

b. Problem 143: ????

c. Problem 144: 2-307 – payment is due at time of delivery UNLESS circumstances would lead to different assumption (trade usage, course of dealing, or even reasonable assumption given the amount and type of product that would be delivered – e.g., what would reasonable buyer expect under the circumstances).  Even if the seller may deliver in more than one lot, that does not necessarily imply that the buyer must pay as they products are delivered (presumption that buyer will not pay until delivery is complete, unless K or circumstances indicate otherwise).  So, in problem 144 we don’t know b/c we would need to know more about the circumstances.

d. Problem 145:  General rule (234) when one party’s performance requires a period of time, the party whose performance takes a period of time goes first.  

5. Construction may have ongoing conditions precedent (I construct phase 1 is a cond prec. For you paying me, your payment is a cond prec to my construction of phase 2, etc.)

6. Express condition has to be met exactly but may be subject to excuses and mitigating doctrines (so if the K says that the condition must be met exactly, then no room for error is allowed?)
i. O.W. Grun Roofing & Construction Co. v. Cope

a. Issue is whether or not the roofer substantially performed (owner of home had not paid). The owner does not HAVE to pay if it is a material breach.  

b. Material breach and substantial performance are the same criteria

c. Constructive condition must be met by criteria of substantial performance (if my performance is a const condtion precedent to your performance, to what extent must I perform to get your performance? Substantially performance.

1. Four criteria for substantial performance (R2D 241): Were they met in this case?

i. Extent to which the injured party will be deprived of the benefit which he reasonably expected. Not insofar as the owner expected a uniform color.
ii. The extent to which the injured party can be adequately compensated for the part of that benefit of which he will be deprived. Here the whole roof must be replaced
iii. The extent to which the party failing to perform or to offer to perform will suffer forfeiture. Favors roofer – the roofer gets nothing.

iv. The likelihood that the party failing to perform or to offer to perform will cure his failure, taking account of all the circumstances including any reasonable assurances More relevant to issue of material breach.  Whether a party can walk from a K (cancel their own performance).   
v. ‘the extent to which the behavior of the party failing to perform or to offer to perform comports with standards of good faith and fair dealing.  The court said that whether you have substantially performed also has to do with whether the party at fault – you cannot substantially perform if you made a willful mistake.  
ii. Jacob & Youngs, Inc. v. Kent
a. Wasn’t this an express condition? And this would require that the performance be PERFECT
b. Assuming that it was NOT express condition, then substantial performance was all that required and the courts’ reasoning was adequate
iii. Problem 147 – generally failing to make payment on insurance policy is enough to vacate the coverage
iv. Problem 148 – 
a. New realm – divisible Ks. If the court finds that a K is “divisible” then rather than looking at it as a whole, they will look at it in parts. Question becomes: did the person substantially perform for the first part and therefore would be due payment? Normal construction K is not divisible.  Issue is whether, TO THE OWNER, is the completion of one house worth one tenth the K price? Put in another way, is the full K worth MORE than the sum of it’s parts?  If NOT divisible, then the contractor must substantially perform the WHOLE K in order to get paid. If it IS divisible, then sub perf for each piece is sufficient to require payment for that part.
b. If there is an express condition precedent to the other party’s perf an dit is not met exactly, the other party doesn’t have to perform
c. If you do not substantially perform your promised perf then the other party’s K obligation never arises. Thus, if my completion of a bldg project is the cond precedent to the owner paying, then they do not have to pay (what about Judge Judy – the guy fired her before she could finish performance on the choreography gig).  
d. (flipside) If I materially breach, then the other pty’s perf obl is cancelled
e. Cocnept of divisibility is a “cushioning” factor for a party who has done some performance but not yet substantially performed. If the court finds that a k is divisible, then the party will have to substantially perform ONLY as to each divisible part of the K in order to get recovery for that part of the K.  In this problem, if the K is divisible, then the builder may sue under K for each house that he completes (if he finishes house 1-3, he can sue under the K for the payments due under the K for those houses, less any damages for my breach for not completely performing on the whole K – thus the builder is not limited to restitution damages for the three houses). This does NOT  break the K up into 10 separate Ks, but only is useful in determining when a blder has substantially performed as to a part of the K (if not divisible, then builder must complete the WHOLE K to be paid). 
f. The flipside: whoever the breaching party, if they can show that the K was divisible, if they can show that it was divisible, then they can recover under K for those parts for which they substantially performed less any damages for not fully performing.
g. Part 2 to question: should the builder stop bldg and sue or keep bldg and sue? Probably stop, b/c they are obligated to not accumulate addt’l out of pocket costs 
h. Part 3 – if 9 houses are done, and one is half complete done, and the K is divisible, then they can get K price for 9 houses but not 10th (b/c not substantially performed), but if the K is NOT divisible, then they still may recover b/c 95% complete may well be considered “substantial performance” – less damages for not completing the 10th house.
i. R2D 240
1. If CAN be apportioned and can assign a value to each part
i. Progress payments are NOT to pay for individual parts of the performance, just a way for the contractor to maintain cash flow.  BUT: If three identical condo units, then easier to apportion
2. And can property be regarded as agreed equivalents (i.e, if the contractor has done one third of the work, is it fair to say that he is due one third of the K price? NO if that is not a fair way of apportioning for the owner - it is also considered in terms of the value to the owner – there may be a value of the whole to the owner that exceeds the sum of the parts.  
7. §241 – circumstances significant in determining whether a failure is material 

i. Material breach determines whether the non-breaching party can cancel their own performance and not perform as they had promised

ii. If express condition, you don’t get into substantial performance question.

8. Colonial Dodge v. Miller

i. If Sale of goods, ignore common law regarding and use article 2

ii. When you are talking about a seller’s obligation to deliver goods you don’t use the law of constructive condition to determine whether or not the seller should recover under the K for delivering the goods b/c the code has it’s own scheme

iii. In this case, under Article 2, it begins with which requirement? In order to keep the buyer from being able to reject the goods, the seller must make a perfect tender. If not perfect tender, then seller may reject the goods.

iv. Article 2

a. What does it mean to not make a perfect tender?

1. K specifies Q of goods – if the proper Q of goods is not delivered, then that is not perfect tender

2. If goods are supposed to be delivered at 9am and they don’t show up then, that is not perfect tender (but there is a mitigating allowance here – there must be material breach by the seller in delivery)

3. What about quality of goods? How do we decide whether the quality of the goods is appropriate? Issues as to quality of goods are fought out on the turf of warranty law: 2-314-316.  

i. 2-313 – Express Warranty by Affirmation, Promise, Dx, Sample

a. What is express warranty?

i. Must be assertion of fact 

ii. issue that often comes up is when an opinion is offered (this is a GREAT car).  

iii. Is it the kind of thing that a regular old buyer would have taken into account when making the purchase? You don’t have to prove reliance, but you look instead as to whether the buyer would have considered it in making the purchase.

b. Not limited to merchants – non-merchants can give express warranties if it meets the conditions laid out in 2-313

ii. 2-314 – Implied Warranty: Merchantability: usage of trade

a. Generated lots of litigation

b. What is required for warranty of merchantability? The sale creates it without any statement from seller.  

c. Sub(c) – [goods must be] fit for the ordinary purposes for which such goods are used

d. This provision ONLY applies to merchants who sells goods of that kind

iii. 2-315 – Implied Warranty: Fitness for Particular Purpose

a. If at time of contracting

b. seller has reason to know 

i. that the buyer has a special purpose in mind AND 

ii. that the buyer is relying on the seller’s judgment that the product is suitable for that purpose

c. If the seller has no reason to know, then there was no implied warranty for special purpose

d. If the buyer comes in and specifies a trade name, then the assumption is that the seller has no reason to know of the buyer’s special purpose and is relying on their own judgment and not that of the seller

iv. 2-316

a. B/c seller’s try to disclaim liability under 2-313-5, this provision allows seller’s to disclaim any warranties.

b. Complicated provision

c. Sellers will normally try to disclaim warranties except to the extent that they want to extend limited warranties. A seller can get rid of code warranties under 2-316(3)(a) by using the words “as is”.  However, the courts have held that these words must be conspicuous.  

d. With respect to express warranties – you cannot disclaim an express warranty in the same K that you give an express wrnty.  To the extent that a disclaimer is in conflict with an express warranty, the express wrnty prevails.  (2-316(1))

e. HOWEVER: Parol evidence rule is applicable to keep out oral express warranties.  So if you have an oral express warranties and the K has a disclaimer, then the disclaimer prevails

v. If there is a breach of warranty, then the buyer CAN reject for not meeting the quality. They can reject or not, and if in commercial units, may accept some and reject the rest.

9. UCC ***LECTURE NOTES*** - Conditions

i. Article 2 does not discuss conditions – the code sections on perfect tender rule (601), right of revocation (608), 606 on concept of acceptance of goods and 609 rejection and revocation. 

ii. What is a breach by a seller of goods?

a. May delvier wrong quantity

b. May deliver in the wrong way

c. May deliver at the wrong time

d. May deliver goods of not the right quality (most litigation)

1. How do we know what is the right quality? Look at warranty law – 2313.  2313 express warranty can arise b/c of an express statement or by a term in the K or by an advertisement or oral ALTHOUGH caution re oral b/c of PER.  Express statements may also arise by a sample or model.  Printing Center case was a K to do printing. The ct said that the K was not subject to article 2 b/c predominately sale of services rather than goods.  But, since the seller never raised that issue both parties fought it out under article 2 at trial level, so app ct applied article 2. If it had come out otherway, the ct would have looked at common law of conditions, and wd have used constructive condition of exchange (and the person whose service took a period of time would have had to have done the printing and the person doing printing would have had to pay for it, and the quality issue would have been whether or not the printer had substantially performed). In article 2, there was an express warranty by way of sample – sheets were shown that were going to be used for the printing and they were a different color from the finished product. Where you use a sample, the product as delivered must conform (as to 2313) to the sample with variations permitted only by K or by trade usage, course of dealing, course of performance. The other warranty that the ct brought up was 2314 – implied warranty of merchantability. B/c pages were crooked nad printing was lousy, that was a violation of 2314. Either defect would give rise to the debtors right ot reject under 2601.  There are some limitations to perfect tender rule - right to reject – 

i. Installment K has different rules

ii. Another exception not mentioned is the right to cure under 2508

a. If product is non-conforming but the time for performance has not expired, then the seller has a right to cure (major or minor flaw)

b. If product is non-conforming, there may be addt’l time to cure past time for performance, but only when the seller had reason to think that the good wd be acceptable (w/ or w/o money allowance – cts have been loose with this language) and then only if the seller notifies the buyer may he have an addt’l reasonable time to cure.  This wd not help the seller if the buyer HAD to have the goods on the date, and the goods are no good to the buyer after that date.  This is a difficult std for the seller to meet.  Also endorsed in r2d 242.

iii. Another limitation is “good faith”.  

a. for merchant – both subj and obj standards of good faith.  

b. applied with respect to 2601 with some regularity – that is, the court can find that if the debtor is rejecting goods for some minor defect to get out of K, then that would be a failure of good faith (particularly when there is a falling market).  

2. Process

i. Notice – 2605. buyer must give notice.  Buyer must specify the defect otherwise there are no grounds to reject UNLESS

a. (sub a) the seller could have cured it if stated seasonably

b. (sub b) b/w merchants when the seller has after rejection made a request in writing for a full and final written statement of all defects on which the buyer proposes to reply

ii. Inconsistent use (2606) – if the buyer does anything inconsistent with the seller’s ownership, then this is an inconsistent use (e.g., if you spill wine on a product you have rejected but not yet returned to the seller).  Thus, after rejection it is inconsistent to use the product at all. 

3. What is a reasonable time before rejection? A reasonable time to inspect the goods. If you wait too long before rejecting the goods, there has been an iimplied acceptance (2606).  You therefore have a right to inspect up until the time that the reasonable time to reject expires. The cutoff time for rejection is acceptance. Acceptance does not happen until reasonable time to inspect has elapsed. So, what is a reas time to inspect?

i. Type of goods – the more complex the goods the longer the buyer has to inspect. BUT other factors (e.g. horse, the power to reject elapses as soon as horse leaves the sellers stall b/c of high possibility of injury to horse during transport).

ii. The greater the volatility of the market, the shorter time to inspect

iii. The more durable the goods the longer, the time to inspect

iv. The sophistication of the parties – the more sophistication, the less time

4. In car case, the man had a right to reject the car b/c of lack of spare tire even though he had already accepted. 

Right to reject ----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------Accept--------------------Revocation of Acceptance



Time to reasonably inspect + notice + no exercise of ownership

5.  2608 – buyer may revoke acceptance of an entire commercial unit (not a part).  

6. Colonial Dodge

i. Subjective test of whether there was a substantial impairment to the buyer. BUT there are limitations to this – the more unreasonable it appears, the less likely the ct will believe that it was a substantial impairment.  

ii. Courts are split as to right to cure – current law there 

iii. sub 2 of 2608 – notification requirement for rejection

a. How long? The more difficult the flaw is to discover, the longer period they have to revoke.  Any inconsistent use after revocation is wrongful against the seller and you lose the right to revoke.  This raises tough issue w/ respect to rejection and revocation – not supposed to use the goods.  But what if the good is a mobile home, your residence, what do you do? Do you have to move? 

7. Damages are dependent on whether there was a revocation or a rejection

8. Stay out of common law if you have a sale of goods, stay out of common law if you’re in article 2

10. Summary of common law (recap)

i. Express condition is defined by intent of parties expressed in K, in light of circumstances.  

ii. Reluctance to find express conditions b/c of concern over forfeiture. 

iii. “constructive conditions” (implied at law b/c they have to be). Also called constructive conditions of exchange. Required when parties 1) fail to order performances or 2) fail to specify the consequences for non-performances (i.e., how does one party respond to the other party’s failure to perform – what is the significance of a failure to perform to the breaching party and the non-breaching party?).  

iv. At common law – where parties have NOT said who goes first, then there is a presumption (r2d) that where the parties have not yet said who has to go first, the party whose performance will take a period of time and the other parrty’s performance can be performed instantly, the party whose perf takes a period of time will go first. 

v. If both can perf instantly, then constructive concurrent condition and both parties must perform at the same time. 

vi. Where a party’s promised performance is a constructive condition to the other party’s perf, that promise perf must be “substantially performed” (i.e., if my perf is a const condition precedent to your perf, then I must subst perf that promise or I cannot recover for breach of K if you refuse to perform; I may be able to recover under theory of restitution, but I cannot recover under the K) 

vii. Reverse of this (from perspective of non-breaching party – is that if my perf is conditioned upon the other party’s constructive conditioned perf, if that is not substantitally performed, as ot me it is a material breach and I have a right to cancel my own perf.  Criteria as to material breach and substantial perf is the same (just adjudged from different perspective of breaching v. non-breaching party).

11. Where there is an article 2 situation, approach under ucc article 2 provisions (expressed above – 601, 608 are the companion righ to reject/right to revoke acceptance. Right to reject is the “perfect” tender rule as opposed to “substantial perf” – as tempered by good faith and the right to cure AND in installment Ks there is a special rule under 612.  After acceptance (606), it still has it’s own test as to revocation. Majority rule: right to cure does not apply as to the right to revoke.  

12. Problem 149 – Installment K

i. First question: is this an installment K? 2612 requires that the goods by “separately accepted”. There have been very few cases on 2612 b/c the courts are reluctant to find installment Ks under 2612.  It is not enough that there will be delivery of goods in separate lots, it must be a situation where the goods are to be “sep accepted” – here the buyer makes a separate decision with each shipment as to whether to accept (under 2606). Can accept without paying, but 2606 does require that the buyer either 1) make an express statement that the goods will be kept or 2) after a reasonable time refuses to send them back.

ii. This understanding (as to installment K) can be oral or based upon trade usage or course of dealing.  

iii. When is there a breach under 2612 (as opposed to 2601 perfect tender rule)? Under 2612 you cannot reject a shipment unless it does not meet substantial performance. Under 2601 you could reject the WHOLE Rest of the K if any shipment is not perfect tender.  Under 2612 you cannot reject future shipments unless the current defect substantially impairs the K as a whole.  

iv. Thus, it is more advantageous to sellers rather than buyers to have a K classified as installment K (avoids perfect tender rule).

v. So, assuming there is an installment K (this is somewhat unclear from the language of the question), what about the 497 logs? Without more info, it wd appear that this was substantial performance.  Substantial perf is determined by an objective test.  2612 is subject to the right to cure.  There IS still a breach.

vi. May they cancel the whole K? Probably not –for same reasons above. Must be substantial impairment of value of the whole K

vii. Can Lincoln RR refuse to pay until seller shows ability to perf in future? Probably not in this case…

viii. Rule: if you screw up and refuse to perform when you shouldn’t have (i.e. when you claim that the other party did not substantially perform but the ct later determines that they did), then YOU are the party in breach.  There will be some damages for the other party’s partial breach, but you will be liable for breaching the whole K.

ix. When we are dealing with UCC, DON”T have to consider language of common law (constructive conditions, etc.)

13. Carter v. Sherburne

i. Issue of timing. Whether time was “of the essence”. Question is whether being late is a material breach, or (in other words) is being late not a substantial performance under common law? Answer, in construction Ks time is considered NOT of the essence – you can be late UNLESS the K specifically provides otherwise.  If the K is clearly dependent on you being timely, then time is of the essence.

ii. If K specifies date of completion, cts have held that you may be considered to have sub perf even if you are not done on that specified date - Particularly true where owner who has hired the contractor has provided for a penalty clause for being late

iii. What evidence? Course of Dealing, course of performance

iv. Option Ks/firms offers are a different matter – you must be right on time.  

v. What about sale of goods?  Generally, time is of essence in sale of goods. BUT 2504 – time is of the essence only if “material loss” ensues.  Also the cts have interpreted the “right to cure” provision as giving party right to cure “lateness” – usually by making it up with some cash allowance to other party.  Also, good faith provision allows cts to enforce Ks even if goods were late.  

vi. Historically, if parties wanted to make sure that lateness was a material breach.  Thus, they historically had put in “time is of the essence” provision. However, if you include a penalty provision this is automatically excluded as material breach, and even if you don’t, it’s still sketchier. MUST now make it really explicit – “if the completion is not on the specified date, there will be a material breach and party will be limited to the restitution recovery”.

vii. AGAIN, this is a concern about forfeiture.  It is one thing to say that they should be on time, it is another to tell a builder who is one day late completing a bldg that they cannot recover on the K price.

14. Problem 150

i. Just regular real estate K (not option K b/c no consideration), thus some slippage of time is okay.

G. Excuse

1. This part is relevant not only to constructive conditions but also express conditions

2. Prevention and Cooperation

i. If you are performing and your perf is a condition (either constructive or express) on other party’s perf, then if other party prevents you from doing it, then the person who is prevented from performing is not in breach.

ii. Sullivan v. Bullock

a. B/c woman prevented contractors from coming back (failed to cooperate – milder form of prevention), she was guilty of breach, not the contractor who didn’t perform.  There is an implied agreement to cooperate.  

iii. Problem 151

a. Not becoming insolvent is a condition precedent to the continued performance of the owner.  But, the K obligation continues despite the insolvency, to the extent that it is caused by the owner’s failure to pay.  NOT material that the owner’s failure to pay caused the insolvency.  The requirement that the person stay out of insolvency would be excused if the other party caused the insolvency, but if the party cannot perform b/c of the insolvency, then they would be in breach for non-performance.

iv. Problem 152

a. Prevention situation keeping people in their employment very difficult to get anywhere with this kind of case

v. Burger King Corp. v. Family Dining

a. Facts: If Δ opened ten BKs within specified time, they would get 99 year exclusive deal for that area. Problem: the Δ was not getting the stores on line in keeping with express terms of K.  Exclusive deal was conditioned on getting the stores on line in time.  

b. Express condition must be completely performed for the performance conditioned on it to come into operation. 

c. Assuming express condition – here clearly the condition has not been met. 

d. The court uses doctrine of forfeiture as an excuse for the non-fulfillment of the condition – what wd have been an express condition precedent to the award of this exclusive franchise agreement is excused b/c of the worry about forfeiture.  

e. What are limitations of this rule?  R2d 229 – Must be disproportionate forfeiture. Disproportionate as to who? Must balance the interest of both parties.  What does this do to the benefits BK expected visavis what franchisee breached?   

f. Court’s reasoning: 

1. Burger King was not hurt here – all the franchises eventually came on line.  Further, FD was not willfully breaching.  

2. How material was the breach?

i. How material was the term of time? Not that material – getting all ten on line was material, but some slippage in time was not likely material.  

3. Waiver and estoppel

i. Can be used to get around a condition. If the ct finds that the party has waived the condition, then the condition is not enforceable.  Waiver is tough to prove – intentional relinquishment of a right under the K. Must then have express language. Estoppel, in contrast, may arise by conduct even when the party had not intent to relinquish their right to use that condition for protection.  

ii. Moe v. John Deer Co.  

a. Issue of estoppel here.  If a K provides that default will occur if debtor does not make payment on certain date, then generally speaking the court will enforce this provision (time is impliedly of the essence, even if not express in K).

b. Default can occur on one day’s mispayment.  In installment payment K, and any mispayment is a default, then creditor may insert acceleration clause that they may call the whole remaining payments due.  Why is this allowed? b/c at common law the creditor could only sue for the money that had come due.  

c. The creditor in this case had an accerleation clause, and provision which clearly said that the debtor was in default if they missed any payments.  

d. Moe was clearly in default.  

e. Issue: whether or not John Deere could enforce the provisions?

f. Could consider this under estoppel theory or modification (under 2-209).  

g. There is an anti-waiver clause – what effect does this have?  Court said it was NOT effective.

h. John Deere could still have given notice that in the future payments would be required (2-209(5))

iii. Problem 155

a. Tiny exception 

b. Missed the date of the notice (written)

c. Insurance co. wants to settle the claim

d. Ct will hold: Insurance co. elected to settle the claim and were thereby foreclosed from asserting that the insured had not given the requisite notice.  

e. Could consider forfeiture in this case – example of way that 

iv. Impossibility is another kind of excuse – to the extent that a promised perf is a cond precedent to the other party’s perf, this issue of impossibility raises the issue that if the promised perf is not required b/c of impossibility, the condition is not longer there?  Just b/c a promised perf is not subject to breach of K action b/c of impossibility, that does not mean that the other party, whose perf was contingent on your perf, still has to perform. The fact that I am forgiven for my breach of promise does not mean that I still get the benefit of the other party’s perf.  MUST separate the promise from the condition – just b/c I am relieved of my promised perf does not mean that I can expect the other party to perf if their perf was conditioned on my perf.  

v. Problem 156

a. Opera singer not liable b/c of impracticability, BUT the manager does not have to give her the job back.

vi. Problem 157

a. Here the breach by the opera singer was much less significant, so the manager must pay or let him rehearse/perform.

vii. Problem 158

a. Generally promises are also constructive conditions.  Sometimes, however, there is language of pure condition – if the condition does not occur, then there are no damages available.  

b. Is the completion of the bobsled run a constructive condition precedent or concurrent?  Precedent b/c the promise to build takes time, and presumption that this promise must go first.  BUT if it is a constructive condition only, then it must be only substantially performed for the other party’s obligation to occur.  So, the central issue here is whether the timing was critical.

c. Sub a is 

d. Sub b is only language of condition.  No promise here – only language of condition.

e. Sub c is both promise and express condition precedent. This is the best. But, probably would want to add “express condition precedent” and “time is of the essence” and “non completion is a material breach”.  Might want to add that all modifications have to be in writing; also anti-waiver provision.  

f. Any payment by the City is conditioned on Sports Facilities, Inc. completing the bobsled run on or before October 1, 2009.  Complete, for the purposes of this contract, means that the bobsled run comports with the plans outlined by the city, is certified by X, and is fully functional for the pre-Olympic trials.  If the bobsled run is not complete by October 1, 2009, Sport Facilities, Inc. will be in material breach and any promised performance by the City under this contract will be null and void, including, but not limited to, payment in any amount, either under the contract price or in restitution. Sport Facilities, Inc., will NOT be entitled to a “right to cure”.  

VII. Anticipatory Repudiation

A. Generally

1. Anticipatory repudiation allows the party who has not repudiated to walk away from their K obligation. When is there an anticipatory repudiation? If party A engages in some kidn of activity that causes party B to wrongfully assume that party B has repudiated, and party B ceases to perform, then party B is in breach.

B. 2-610

1. Can wait for ‘commercially reasonable time’ OR go ahead and sue for breach. In either case non-repudiating party may suspend performance.

2. Problem 159 – NASA contractor agrees to produce space vehicle by 2010 (now 2002).  In 2006 they write letter informing NASA they must bail.  NASA buys vehicle elsewhere for additional $24M.  N ASA should be able to pursue action under 2-610.

3. Hochster v. De La Tour 1853)

i. Facts: De La Tour engaged Hochster as a courier.  Before the departure date, De La Tour repudiated the contract.

ii. Issue: Can Hochster sue for breach at the time of the repudiation, or must he continue to prepare to perform and incur additional costs?

iii. Held: Yes. Hochster could either 1) sue immediately or 2) wait until the time when the performance was to be done.  

iv. Analysis:  Stupid to require Hochster to act as though the repudiation didn’t happen and thereby prevent any mitigation of damages.  

C. 2-609

1. Since there is a risk in treating someone if they have repudiated when they have not (you could be found in breach), this provides a middle ground.  Allows party to gain clear signal from other party of whether they are able to perform or are repudiating.  

2. If a party has “reasonable grounds from insecurity” then the party can ask for “adequate assurance of performance”. Request must be in writing. Recipient has “reasonable time not exceeding thirty days” to respond. 

3. Problem 160 – See comment 4 to 2-609.  Whether the assurances are sufficient depends on the commercial reasonableness of them.  (a) insufficient without more given that this is a long-term K and expensive (though course of dealing, course of performance may indicate that this sort of assurance is sufficient); (b) better than (a); (c) doesn’t address whether they can perform on the K, it just addresses their solvency in the event of breach.  I don’t know if this qualifies as “adequate” assurance. If the party really needs the scooters, and if they wait around no other contractor will have time to supply them, then maybe damages are insufficient.

4. Hope’s Architectural Products v. Lundy’s Construction

i. Facts: Hope’s agreed to provide windows for Lundy’s construction job.  Before the windows were due to be delivered, Lundy’s sent letter demanding that they be delivered prior to the required date. Hope’s did not respond to this letter.  Hope’s further did not deliver the windows on schedule.  Lundy’s told them that they were planning to “back charge” for the costs associated with the delay. Hope’s first demanded assurances that Lundy’s would not do this and then demanded pre-payment in full prior to delivery.

ii. Issue: As a breaching party, could Hope’s require assurances under 2-609?

iii. Held: No.  First, Lundy’s was justified in claiming a back-charge because of the delay, thus this alone was not “reasonable grounds for insecurity” – there was no indication that Lundy’s would not pay the K price less the damages from delay.  Further, “a party in breach is not entitled to invoke 2-609 by demanding assurances” – b/c the breaching party can’t extort forbearance of the non-breaching party’s legal right to sue for damages from the delay.  Also, the demand for assurances was over-broad.

iv. No quantum meruit (restitution) claim b/c no benefit conferred on Lundy’s.  “A party’s expenditures in preparation for performance that do not confer a benefit on the other party do not give rise to a restitution interest.” 

v. Outcome: Lundy’s has breach of K action against Hope’s.

5. Problem 161 –No “effect of insolvency” provision in UCC, so common law controls (R2D 252)

6. Problem 162 – Doctrine of impossibility shouldn’t apply, because that would merely excuse the Body Bags performance (they couldn’t get there), NOT the hall’s performance, b/c he could have heated the dance hall.  As to anticipatory repudiation, maybe it depends on what the rock group actually said to the manager?  If they said “we’re not coming,” then he’d probably be okay, but if they just said that they were having a hard time making it, he may have been justified in asking for further assurances (like their plans for getting there). Crandall: Was anticipatory repudiation on part of manager.

D. 2-610

1. Problem 163 – Because Alexander’s act was totally inconsistent with his ability to perform, Phillip should be able to bring suit before September 1.  Crandall: clear anticipatory repudiation.  Example of repudiation not by express words, but by actions. Limitation of this problem – a unique good (only one racehorse). If the good was apples, just b/c you sell apples to someone else does nto imply that you cannot perform on your K with someone else to supply apples. 

E. Problem 164 – Travis should be able to recover on the K. Crandall: Don’t have to formally tender performance if the other party has anticipatorily repudiated (true under common law as well) – you only have to show that you would have been able to tender performance when the other party anticipatorily repudiated.  

VIII. Remedies

A. Generally

1. If you have not substantially performed, you are not entitled to sue for breach of K (but may sue for restitution). If you have not substantially performed, there is a material breach, and the other party can cancel their performance and not be in breach.

2. What damages you are entitled to under Article 2 depends on whether you have had 1) a rightful rejection or revocation of acceptance or 2) whether you have accepted the goods.

3. Types of remedies

i. Damages

a. Typical remedy for breach of K – damages is the prevalent remedy

b. Damages are calculated to protect expectation interests (to put the non-breaching party in the place it would have been had it not been for the breach)

ii. Equitable remedies are exceptional (e.g. injunctive relief, specific performance)

iii. Occasionally reliance damages are awarded – purpose to put them in the same position had they never entered into the K (out of pocket costs)

iv. Restitution prevents unjust enrichment

B. Expectation Damages

1. Hawkins v. McGee

i. Why breach of promise? The doctor solicited for the operation and said that he would make it a “100% perfect hand”
ii. What costs were relevant in making the damage determination?
a. Cost of operation – NO (b/c he would have paid it even if the hand was good)
b. Pain of operation – NO same reasoning
c. Difference b/w hand with hair and scars and a hand w/o these defects – YES 
d. Pain п suffered that wd not have been suffered if the hadn had been as promised – YES (special/consequential damages)
e. Embarrassment п suffered as a result of operation – YES (special/consequential damages)
2. Problem 63 – buyer recovers expectation measure of damages – protecting the benefit of the bargain for the buyer.  Here, would be market value – K price.  In real estate the preferred remedy is specific perf, but the party does not have to ask for spec perf – could ask for damages.  
3. Example:
i. 500K contract price
ii. 440K cost to builder + 60K profit
iii. At the breach, owner had pd 200K and builder had expended 190K
iv. Most common formula: [Unpaid K price – Cost to complete]
a. In this case: 300K – 250K = 50K (here 500K-200K=300K, and 440K-190K=250K)
v. Other formula: [Cost expended to date of breach + profit – any amounts paid]
a. In this case: 190K + 60K – 200K = 50K
b. A little more complicate – why to use this formula instead?  There are a number of limitations on damages, among them certainty. If the contractor has trouble proving ‘cost to complete’, then this formula is better for the contractor. If the other party can prove that the cost of completion would be higher than expected and wd wipe out profit, then that would be taken into account. 
4. Expectation = Reliance plus profit
5. What is the rule? How to reconcile these two cases?  Normal rule is cost of completion but it is NOT available if the cost of completion is grossly disproportionate to the difference in value of that which was promised and that which was received (e.g. the difference in value for Peevyhouse was $300, but the cost of completion was $29K).  The higher the differential b/w the difference in value and the cost of completion, the greater chance that you will use the value rule. Second rationale – “economic waste” – based on presumption that if the cost of completion is too much higher, then the owner is not going to use the money to do the action that was contracted; Jacob & Young case also illustrates econ waste – the destruction of other property in order to get a minimal increase in value.  If contractor breaches in bad faith, owner is more likely the higher measure of damages than the value measure. What do we mean by bad faith? The more outrageous the conduct gets, the more likely the court to find bad faith, and the contractor will have to pay cost of completion damages.  
i. Peevyhouse v. Garland Coal

a. Contractor breached here – strip coal mine, and contractor defaulted on provision of putting the farm back to the condition prior to the mining.
b. What is the appropriate measure of damages when the contractor fails to perform?
1. Normal measure is the cost to get it done the way it was promised – so if the contractor hasn’t done anything, it would be the cost to go out and hire someone to do it (or whatever portion the contractor left incomplete).
2. Revisit Jacob v. Young – whether the contractor who put in the right pipe was responsible for replacing the pipes OR the difference in value. There the court only awarded difference in value, which was nominal.
c. Supreme court held that the correct measure of damages was $300 – the dimunition in value of the property
d. The issue of putting the land back in same condition was not the principal part of the K
e. Peevyhouse probably would be decided differently today
ii. Council of Unit Owners of Sea Colony East v. Carl M Freeman Associates

a. Here the court awarded cost of completion even though the cost was high (12M) AND the cost of the condos had accelerated
b. Why didn’t court use economic waste theory/disproportionate theory here? 
C. Reliance Damages
1. Why might you go for reliance damages rather than expectation? You might not have a choice (you can’t prove the expectation damages – e.g., can’t prove profit).
2. Sullivan v. O’Connor

i. Court says that it is touchy whether to award damages at all (b/c of policy concerns) – but at maximum should be reliance damages
ii. Not usual kind of case – but as a matter of public policy the court limits recovery to reliance interest.
3. Anglia Television v. Reed

i. Actor (Robert Reed) decides not to do play
ii. Contracting party never sought expectation interest, but instead sought reliance damages (this is at the option of the plaintiff).  It is typically sought where there is a limitation on expectation interest which would prevent non-breaching party from recovering for expectation interest – limitation here was the uncertainty of how much the play would profit had Reed showed up. 
iii. Reliance damages entail 
a. out of pocket expenses expended upon part-performance of a K
b. Also possibly out-of-pocket costs for “preparation for performance.”  Part-performance means engaging in some part of the performance under the K – difference b/w painter going out to buy paint brushes versus starting to paint the house (first is preparation to perform, second is part-performance). BUT technical distinctions here – if the painter went out to buy paint for this particular job which could not be used elsewhere, then that could be part-performance.  Classic rule as to whether yo can recover preparation to perform damages is that you CANNOT. But the more modern, yet still minority rule, is represented by this case – that you can get damages for prep for perf.  
iv. If the breaching party can show that if the K had been performed, the non-breaching party would have lost money (the cost of perf is greater than K price), then the reliance damages wd be reduced by the loss.  
4. Problem 65
i. Don’t get exp and rel dmgs b/c exp int incorporates rel dmgs – this wd be double recovery
D. General v. special damages
1. General are dmgs above 

i. expectation interest, reliance interest, restitution (talk about later)
ii. General dmgs are dmgs which will flow naturally from the type of breach that occurred
2. Circumstantial (special) dmgs
i. Dmgs which do not necessarily flow from the nature of the type of breach that occurred
ii. But MAY when there are special circumstances
E. Limitations on dmgs
1. Important: 
i. What limitations are all about – what does it mean to be “reas certain”?
ii. Which limitations are applicable to general and special dmgs and which are applicable only to special dmgs?
iii. Different examples of “special dmgs”
iv. Incidental dmgs are form of consequential dmgs
2. Certainty
i. Applies to both general and special dmgs
ii. Two types of certainty issues:
a. Must prove with reas degree of certainty that the injury complained of did in fact occur (does not come up often – well established in jurisprudence – presumed that if a breach by the owner in a const K occurs, X types of injury will occur.) 
b. Must prove with reas degree of certainty what the amount of damage is
iii. General
a. Certainty as to fact of injury
b. Certaity as to amount
iv. Special
a. As to amt
v. Pomeranz v. McDonalds 

a. all general dmgs in this case – the expectation interest over lease period McD’paid taxes, maintenance cost on top of rental.  
b. Issue – whether Pomeranz proved with reas degree of certainty what the costs were re maintenance costs and taxes
c. Pomerantz testified as to the costs for maintenance and taxes in face of breach. BUT Pomerantz was not an expert.  He got away with tax issue, but ct did not allow the maintenance. Pomeranz had no idea what main costs were – just guessed as to the maintenance costs and the interest rate.
vi. Drews v. Ledwith-Wolfe Associates

a. New Business Rule – new business is too uncertain to allow recovery for lost profits
b. When an owner is having a building built and the building is not built as promised, the measure of general damages is cost of completion except as tempered by a gross disparity between cost of completion and loss in value to property if K was performed v. value if the K was breached.
c. Old rule – if new business you can’t establish lost profits by reas degree of certainty
d. New rule (embraced by the Drews court) – requires reas degree of certainty which can be demonstrated – other rest in the area, if the owner had had a rest before, what profit the rest had later.  
e. To what extent must you prove amount as to reas certainty? No cut-off – so reasonable.  
f. Two policies – you don’t want to make it so hard that non-breaching party can’t prove their losses and the fact that the breaching party was at fault.  
vii. Problem 66 – Not often winner.  Reliance cost is a possibility.
viii. Freund v. Washington Square Press

a. Author could not recover b/c he could not establish damages.
b. Recovery only of $6 for “nominal damages” – every breach is entitled to remedy, but it may be only nominal dmgs.
3. Foreseeability to breaching party
i. Hadley v. Baxendall

a. Facts: Common carrier enlisted to carry a mill shaft.  Negligence by the common carrier and delay.
b. What recovery?
1. If expectation interest – then the measure of expectation wd be what it takes to get someone else to haul the same thing (however, federal law and state law limits your damages on carriage contracts today – so if you really must have something there in due time
c. In order to recover consequential damages – must be foreseeable to the breaching party – not important the circumstances of the breach – just that the damages that might flow from any breach. Also amount not required to be foreseeable – just that the type of damage was “reasonably foreseeable.”
d. Why did the court not find that it was reasonably foreseeable? Ct never mentions the fact that the clerk was told the mill was stopped – looks as thought it was. Nevertheless – leading case on the point that dmgs must be reasonably foreseeable.
ii. Code
a. Consequential dmgs not available to sellers – only to buyers, and only when they meet requirements

b. 2-715
1. Mirrors common-law rule
2. 2715(2)(a) – Hadley v. Baxendall rule of foreseeability
3. 2715(2)(b) - No Hadley v. Baxendall rule for injury to person or property
iii. problem 67 – must there be an agreement that the party will be subject to cons dmgs? NO. Only must know that they may reasonably occur in face of breach.  No need to have express or implied agreement that they would assume liability.
iv. Problem 68 – do you have to have forseeability re the method of breach? NO. Just the type of dmgs that might flow.  
v. Am/PM Franchise v. Atlantic Richfield

a. Gas sold to distributor was bad gas – caused loss not just of primary profits (sale of gas) but also secondary profits (sale of sundries to gas customers)
b. Dealers are entitled to lost profits as to the gas they were buying which was defective.
c. But, once the station gets good gas from another wholesaler or the defendant starts supplying dealers with good gas, then they no longer have direct lost profits from defective gas. But they still may have lost profits from loss of goodwill.  Goodwill is loss of reputation and loss of profits AFTER the breach has been remedied (i.e. when they start selling good gas again) – but the former customers have not yet returned b/c of their bad prior experiences.  
d. General dmgs in a case like this wd be the measure of the difference between the value of gas as promised and value of gas as sold.  Lost profit margin is a consequential damage.  
e. Goodwill exposition was dicta, b/c the party was not asking for goodwill dmgs.  
f. Goodwill had not been allowed before b/c it was too speculative (automatically not allowed) but now we have more accuracy as to economic projections, and thus no longer per se rule that goodwill dmgs not allowed.  
vi. Problem 69 – non-economic dmgs not recoverable generally. BUT in contract for burial, you MAY
a. § 353 – non-econ dmgs MAY be recovered in some circumstances – bodily injury, etc.
4. Avoidability (mitigation)
i. Must take reasonable steps to limit recovery
ii. Rockingham Cty v. Luten Bridge

a. Luten contracted to build a bridge
b. Obligation by non-breaching party to not “run up dmgs”
c. Luten continued to build the bridge AFTER Rockingham had repudiated.
d. Formula ct adopted to find measure of dmgs was: Cost of perf + profit
1. Here, profit remains constant, but the figure of “cost of perf” varies depending on how much work was done. The cost of perf figure is measured at the time the party learned of the breach. Thus, the work that Luten continued to do after the repudiation is NOT recompensable. 
2. HOWEVER, you ARE allowed to wait a reas period of time to wait to allow the breaching party to cure their repudiation (at common law) – during which you can continue to perform, (the clearer the repudiation and the more work done after the repudiation increases likelihood that the contractor will NOT recover the full value of the work he does after the repudiation) – also in 2-610 in UCC.
iii. You do not have to settle or accept something less from the breaching party than you had under the K
iv. Problem 71 – Peevyhouses in this example went ahead and contracted to have the reclamation work done.    
v. Problem 72 – 
vi. Parker v. Twentieth Century Fox

a. K for role in movie – “Bloomer Girl”
b. Fox backed out and told Parker (Shirley McClaine) that she wd instead make “Big Country”
c. When she sued for dmgs, Fox alleged that she failed to mitigate her dmgs
d. General rule in employment K – when you have a K which is breached, your recovery is your lost wages BUT to the extent that you can obtain “like employment” OR if you have in fact obtained employment, whether like or not, then there is a deduction.  Even if you don’t go to work for someone else, then you have deductions for what you cd have made in a job which was similar. You do NOT have to accept employment that is not similar, but if you do you must deduct the wages from that employment.  
e. Here the court found that Parker did not have to accept the “Big Country” job
f. Court took “judicial notice” that the “Big Country” job was inferior to the other job (rather than accept evidence and find fact)
g. Mitigation concept is relevant to general and special dmgs – if cons dmgs was an injury b/c of defective product, then if you don’t have injury treated and it gets worse, then you are responsible for the ADDITIONAL injury.
vii. Problem 73 – Same issue as problem 71 – you don’t have to deal with the dirty dog who fired you – but the wages from waitressing job is deducted from recovery
viii. Problem 74 – don’t have to do some terrible act against public policy (throwing out old lady)
5. Liquidated Damages

i. Purpose – to substitute judgment of parties in advance in place of court determination – are enforceable so long as they are not a penalty (unreasonably large – R2D 356 – as compared to either a) anticipated loss or b) real damages) In Lake River b/c the damage clause did not vary according to costs, it was unreasonably large. In court determinations the amt of damages varies based on the costs to the non-breaching party, i.e the higher the costs, the higher the award.  

ii. Lake River Corp. v. Carborundum

a. Posner thinks from an economic perspective that non-enforcement of penalty clauses is stupid – he thinks that economically efficient breaches should not be discouraged, but that penalty clauses encourage parties to enter into a K in the face of risk.  Posner claims that non-enforcement of penalty clauses is paternalistic – the courts are telling the parties what a good bargain is.  Thus, if the parties are willing to enter into the agreement, then the courts should not second guess.  
b. The court goes on to say that this IS a penalty clause b/c it is not reasonable in light of the real or anticipated harm b/c the damages clause ignores the cost that Lake River foregoes by not performing on the K. There is no difference in this clause based upon how much the non-breaching party had to expend before the breach.  If they had adjusted this in order to compensate for this – i.e., if you don’t send us the minimum, then you owe us the profit (NOT the whole K price).  Reasoning behind penalty – the interest of the courts is not in making people go through with a K, but only to compensate the non-breaching party for their loss of expectation.  Thus, K law does not intend to punish the breaching party but only to compensate the non-breaching party.  
c. Limitation on no-penalty flies in face of economics, but does align with unconscionability doctrine.  
d. Take or pay clauses – common in energy Ks – distinguished from Lake River b/c the fixed costs are more front-loaded re the infrastructure required for distribution. Hard sometimes to distinguish b/w Lake  River type clause and take or pay clause
e. Where the harm cannot be anticipated in dollars, the court is unlikely to find a penalty clause. One of the things that hurt Lake River was that it was easy to calculate the anticipated harm and if the real harm is difficult to assess with some degree of certainty, the more likely the clause will be held as liquidated damages rather than penalty.
f. Cannot have a clause which is disproportional to the real or anticipated harm – thus if you can’t figure out the harm with some reas. Degree of certainty, the court is more likely to uphold the clause b/c there is no way for the court to say that it is grossly disproportionate.  
g. In new business it is hard to prove what dmgs will be (see above), so the courts may well support a high liquidated damage clause in this case as opposed to an established business b/c you cannot say that the amount in the new business case is unreasonable in relation to the anticipated or real harm IF that real harm is impossible to determine.  
h. ***The test is whether or not it is reasonable as to the anticipated OR the real damages – so if it was reasonable at the time you entered the K, it remains reasonable even if it is disproportionate as to the real damages – so they get the benefit if it was reasonable as to the time of K OR at the time when the actual damages become measurable – SO doesn’t have to be proportionate to BOTH anticipated and real damages, but rather must be proportionate to EITHER the anticipated OR real damages.  
iii. Problem 75

a. First, what if the seller gets to retain ALL the payments AND they get to keep the land, too – clearly a penalty because the seller gets to keep EVERYTHING, no consideration of the actual costs to the seller for the breach (i.e. the cost to resell).  
b. Liquidated damage of 15% of K price? Maybe if it is a reas approximation or if there is a difficulty in determination.  Flat amounts run into same problem as Lake River – but here the expense to the non-breaching party is the expense of re-selling the land, and maybe that it is a reas estimation of how much it will cost to sell the land.  Whether 15% is reasonable is potentially disputable.  
c. What about effect of reversal of fortunes? Should be of no consequence.  
iv. Problem 76

a. Should bridge builder have to pay $500 a day? YES – because the measure is whether the penalty was reasonable as regards to anticipated OR real harm – thus the fact that the $500 damage is not reasonable given the real harm is not dispositive
v. Problem 77

a. The deposit would not be valid here.  Keeping the rest of the rent in face of a breach of lease is NOT a valid liquidated damage clause, but two months rent probably would be b/c of uncertainty in costs of advertising, re-letting the apt.
vi. Problem 78

a. Health spa problem – NO the health spa is not entitled to the entire amount (just profit?)
vii. Schurtz v. BMW of North America

a. 2714 also suggests that incidental and consequential damages may also be available.  Must prove incidental and consequential damages with reasonable certainty.  Must also be foreseeable (27152a – Hadley v. baxendall rule).  Also avoidability doctrine invoked in 2715. 
b. Most common limitation on remedy is “repair or replace” – in 2719.  
c. ***Limitation to repair or replacement is NOT effective unless it states explicitly that it is exclusive. 
d. In Schurtz – two limitations: 1) limitation to repair or replace and 2) exclusion of consequential damages.  If a limited remedy fails of its essential purpose, then what effect is that?  [question: why do you have to exclude consequential damages if you’ve already limited your remedy to repair or replace?]
e. Two questions: 1) did the remedy in this case fail of its essential purpose and 2) what effect does that have on the exclusion of consesquential damages?  The essential purpose of any remedy, even a ltd remedy, is to provide some remedy. THUS, if the seller does not meet the std of ltd remedy, then it fails of its essential purpose.  Whether it fails its essential purpose is a question of fact.  
f. Issue in Schurtz: what happens to the exclusion of consequential damages? Sub 2 seems to imply that when the ltd remedy fails of essential purpose, then you can ignore the exclusion of consequential damages and apply ANY remedy under the code, which would INCLUDE consequential damages. 3 says you can exclude consequential damages except when it is unconscionable.  Primary issue – whether the consequential damage provision was still valid when the warranty provision fails of its essential purpose?  
g. Court rules that the clauses ARE independent, and that this is the majority rule in commercial cases – thus sub 3 is still in effect even with the failure of the warranty (except when the limitation would be unconscionable).  BUT when the K is consumer – the majority held that the clauses were dependent.  HERE the court adopts the commercial standard for this consumer K – but even though they are independent you can still attack the limitation of cons dmgs based on unconsionability (procedural or substantive). 
1.  Is an exclusion of consequential damages substantively unconscionable? Not according to the UCC.  (from earlier – the more procedural unc the less substantive you need).  
h. Summary
1. No liquidated damage clause – it was attempt to limit a remedy – is this permissible? Depends on whether or not the seller has complied with 2-719. This envisions an ability to limit remedies to a certain kind of remedy whether the damage is actual or consequential (that is, it is permitted in 2719(2) for the seller to say whatever your damages might have been is irrelevant, we will limit you to a certain kind of remedy. Most common is limitation to repair or replacement.  This is permissible if the aprties agree that this will be the exclusive remedy. But, if the exc remedy fails of essential purpose (which a repair or replacement would if the seller will not or cannot repair or replace) to provide SOME remedy under the limited remedy clause…
2. Under 2715(3) the seller can exclude consequential dmgs, but this is subject to unconsionabiliyt under 2302 – if it is damage to person or property can’t preclude consequential damages
3. If remedy fails of essential purpose, then the normal remedies under article 2 apply
4. Here, the issue is IF warranty fails of essential purpose, does this cancel out the limitation of consequential damages also? Court rules NO – buyer can pursue normal damages under code, but not consequential damages UNLESS the court finds that the exclusion of cons dmgs is unconscionable (Independent reading of the clauses). This is the majority rule as to commercial transactions, most courts now have applied the independent rule to consumer Ks as well.  
6. Punitive Damages
i. Normally not awarded.
ii. Must be independent tort – including fraud
iii. Limited to “extreme and outrageous conduct” - i.e., when the party will systematically deny the claims, knowing that they COULD repair and that there were likely to be more problems for the other party
iv. Can’t get attorneys fees in most states UNLESS there is an independent tort (however some states are moving towards “loser pays” even in K actions). Crandall thinks bad idea b/c discourages worthwhile litigation/chilling effect.  
v. Hibschman Pontiac v. Batchelor

a. Unusual case – courts will usually not award punitive damages
vi. Strum v. Exxon

7. Damages under UCC

i. General

a. Review

1. Breach of K by the buyer may consist of refusing to pay, anticipatory repudiation, refusal to allow the seller to deliver the goods (another form of repudiation).  Refusal to pay most common.

2. From buyer’s perspective, more complicated. Remedies turn on the nature of the breach and the buyer’s response. From buyer’s persp – seller may repudiate, fail to deliver, deliver wrong Q, deliver wrong quality (defective goods).  Most common – defective goods.  

3. Basis for a suit as to defective goods is a breach of warranty claim: Three kinds of warranties: 1) express 2313, 2) implied warranties of merchantability 2314, 3) implied warranty for specific purpose 2315. 

i. Express warranty can be made by any seller (merchant or not), express warranties can consist of any express oral or written statement that is a basis of the bargain, i.e. is a factor in persuading the buyer to purchase. (Also consider issues of “puffing”, statement of opinion, etc.) Oral warranties create parol evidence problem.  Express warranties can also arise by sample, model or advertisement.  

ii. Implied warranties of merch. Only by merchants who deal in goods of the kind.  Assess only by making the sale – no statements need to be made. “The goods will work as other goods of this kind” is essential statement of imp. War of merchantability.  

iii. Implied warranty for particular purpose arises whether merchant or not – but only arise when the buyer has a particular purpose (most courts hold that you don’t have this kind of warranty if the buyer is using them for their ordinary purpose). Particular purpose warranty arises when 1) the seller has reason to kow that the buyer is relying on the seller’s judgment and 2) the seller has reason to know of the particular purpose.  

4. Buyer has the right to reject goods that are not part of the “perfect tender” rule (2-601).  Perfect tender rule was modified by good-faith limitation and rt to cure 2508 (which varies according to time of performance of the K – harder to cure when the time for perf has passed).  There is a diff rule when you have an installment K under 2612 – substantial perf rule (from seller’s persp)/material breach rule (from buyer’s persp); thus before the buyer can reject a shipment they must show that the entire shipment is substantially impaired and if they want to reject all future goods under the inst K they must show that the breach impairs the value of all FUTURE shipments.

5. This is the right to reject when it arises – must also remember HOW to reject and HOW LONG you have to reject Right to reject ends at time of acceptance.  Acceptance can occur b/c the buyer says they accept or when buyer does an act inconsistent with the ownership rights of seller (i.e. painting them, selling them to someone else) or by the passage of time – how long you have before the right ot reject expires depends on the nature of the goods b/c you have a right to reject the goods. The more complicated the more time you have to reject (e.g. you may have some goods which are so sensitive that you have almost no time to reject). Must give notice to reject – and most courts have held this must be in writing.  Also, the rejection must be particular b/c if you don’t list time of defect, then you can’t complain about it later on.  

6. Once acceptance occurs under 2606 it is too late to reject but buyer may still be able to revoke. Same set of questions – WHEN can you revoke, for WHAT reasons, how LONG do you have, and HOW do you revoke?  2608 no perfect tender rule – but if the goods have a “substantial impairment to the buyer”, so subjective test.  How long is also in 2608 – buyer has the period of time up until the time when the buyer SHOULD have discovered the defect. Buyer can have a longer period of time if the seller is all the while saying that they will take care of the problem.  Time runs out when the buyer makes a substantial change of the goods or sell them to someone else or dispose of the goods.  

7. No right to cure when there is a revocation rather than a rejection (but can cure if the seller gives them the opportunity to do so prior to revocation).  

8. Buyer must notify the seller of revocation 2608(2) and same rules as to notification of rejection. Same obligations as to care of the goods until the seller can reclaim the rejected or revoked goods.  

9. Don’t worry about 2603 and 2604

b. What are the buyer’s remedies?  Indexed in 2711

1. 2714

i. If the buyer has “finally accepted” then the buyers remedies for breach are under 2714 and potentially 2715.  What is meant by final acceptance? The buyer has a) wrongfully rejected (either substantively or procedurally) or b) has wrongfully revoked acceptance or c) the buyer has just voluntarily said “I accept” under 2606. In these cases, you would be under 2714 for damages.  

ii. Breach of warranty claim – damages are 

a. Measure of general damage is difference b/w value of goods as warranted and as delivered

b. May also be entitled to consequential (including incidental) damages

2. ANY other breach you are under 2711

i. Case where seller repudiated or buyer rightfully revoked or rejected.  

ii. Buyer has the right to:

a. Recover any part of the price paid and

b. Either

i. Cover and go after damages 2712

ii. Recover market-measure for damages under 2713

ii. Teradyne v. Teledyne

